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SIX-YEAR SUMMARY
Nihon Dempa Kogyo Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

Millions of yen (Note)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2021

Net sales ¥39,195 ¥39,468 ¥42,498 ¥43,952 ¥43,791 ¥44,850 $354,033
Cost of sales 32,616 35,696 35,497 37,768 34,620 36,137 294,607
Selling, general and

 administrative expenses 5,495 5,922 6,255 6,642 6,479 6,718 49,634
Research and development expenses 1,613 1,684 1,884 1,787 2,035 1,921 14,569
Operating income/(loss) 2,844 (8,286) 406 (9,618) 727 410 25,688 
Income/(loss) before income tax 2,592 (8,644) (56) (9,640) 472 102 23,412 
Net income/(loss) 1,976 (8,709) (251) (10,202) 611 317 17,848 
Net income/(loss) attributable to owners

 of the parent 1,976 (8,709) (251) (10,202) 611 317 17,848 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for

 the period 3,270 (9,376) (460) (9,732) (72) (1,414) 29,536 
Total assets 63,054 54,547 60,784 60,816 68,830 67,966 569,542 
Total equity 13,552 5,349 14,725 15,108 25,234 25,700 122,409 
Depreciation and amortisation 3,104 3,697 3,469 4,094 3,641 3,558 28,037 
Capital expenditures 3,228 3,133 2,376 7,141 6,779 2,099 29,157

 
 U.S. dollars

Yen (Note)

Per Share Data:
Net income/(loss):
 Basic ¥100.70 ¥(443.79) ¥(12.80) ¥(519.87) ¥31.16 ¥16.17 $0.91
 Diluted 61.27 — — — — — 0.55 
Cash dividends applicable to the period 0 0 0 10.00 20.00 20.00 0 

Notes: 1.  Figures are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The U.S. dollar amounts represent translations of Japanese yen amounts at the rate of ¥110.71 to 
U.S.$1.00, which was the rate prevailing on March 31, 2021.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Outlook

Looking at the global economy during the fiscal year ended March 

31, 2021, activity stagnated across countries all over the world. 

This happened as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, with busi-

ness conditions deteriorating significantly during the first quarter 

(April to June 2020). Thanks largely to the efforts of most major 

countries to proactively implement fiscal stimulus measures, eco-

nomic activity gradually resumed, triggering an ongoing recovery 

trend in the automobile market and other sectors over the end of 

the fiscal year under review.

 Against this backdrop, automotive applications, which account 

for nearly half of the consolidated net sales, increased steadily. 

After a substantial decline in the first quarter, net sales in the 

second half (October 2020 to March 2021) exceeded the previous 

peak recorded in the fiscal year 2018. In addition to the sharp 

recovery in automobile production from the second quarter (July to 

September 2020), this was largely attributable to an upswing in the 

number of crystal devices installed per vehicle in line with the 

increase in Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (ADAS).

 In mobile communication applications, which make up around 

20% of the consolidated net sales, NDK took steps to increase the 

sales of 76.8MHz crystal units with built-in thermistors and ul-

tra-compact crystal units for 5G smartphones. As a result, net sales 

increased year on year.

 In industrial equipment applications, which represents roughly 

10% of the consolidated net sales, there was an improvement in 

the full-year results compared with last year. Sales increased year 

on year primarily for base station application. This happened 

despite a substantial drop in industrial equipment sales to major 

communication equipment manufacturers in China in the second 

half of the fiscal year due to tighter sanctions imposed by the U.S. 

government.

 Meanwhile, results declined year on year in consumer applica-

tions, which also generate around 10% of the consolidated net 

sales. The decline was mainly due to the substantial downturn in 

sales for the single-lens reflex camera application, which exceeded 

the increase in sales for the PC application.

 Overall, results were significantly impacted by the drop in auto-

motive application sales, especially marked in the first quarter. 

Consequently, consolidated net sales edged down 0.7% year on 

year to ¥39,195 million in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021.

 On July 1, 2020, the Company conducted an absorption-type 

company split to form a wholly owned subsidiary, NDK SAW 

Devices Co., Ltd. (NSD). NSD took over the SAW filter development 

and manufacturing businesses of NDK and its wholly owned 

Sales by Customer-Based Geographic Area

subsidiary, Hakodate NDK Co., Ltd. (Hakodate NDK). Along with 

the above split, the Company negotiated with JIC Technology 

Investment Co., Ltd. (JICT) to establish a joint venture by spinning 

off the development, manufacture, and sales businesses of SAW 

filter products, which NDK and Hakodate NDK were operating. On 

October 30, 2020, the Company transferred a 51% equity interest 

of NSD to Sito Microelectronics Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a 

subsidiary of Jiaxing Jiawang Investment Partnership (Limited 

Partnership), an investment subsidiary of JICT.

Results of Operations

In the fiscal year under review, NDK reported an operating income 

of ¥2,844 million, compared with an operating loss of ¥8,286 

million in the previous fiscal year; income before income taxes of 

¥2,592 million, compared with a loss before income taxes of 

¥8,644 million in the previous year; and net income of ¥1,976 

million, compared with a net loss of ¥8,709 million a year ago.  

Structural reform expenses of ¥800 million and decreased invento-

ries served to push down earnings. In contrast, such factors all 

contributed to the above-mentioned positive turnaround as im-

proved profitability in products for mobile communications applica-

tions, reduced fixed costs, decreased impairment losses of ¥3,600 

million, and cutbacks in structural reform expenses of ¥1,700 

million, in addition to the posting of a combined ¥4,400 million as 

a gain on sales of shares due to the transfer of a 51% equity 

Sales by Customer-Based Geographic Area
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

interest in NSD, a wholly owned subsidiary, and a valuation gain of 

residual equity interest associated with the transfer. Operating 

income in the second half came in at ¥600 million, excluding the 

earnings of ¥4,400 million from the transfer of shares in a subsidi-

ary, ¥400 million in structural reform expenses, and ¥300 million in 

impairment losses.

Sales by Product

Sales by product were as follows.

(1) Quartz Crystal Units

While sales of quartz crystal units for automotive applications 

recovered rapidly after bottoming out in the first quarter (April to 

June 2020), a substantial drop in the first quarter resulted in a 

year-on-year decline for the full fiscal year. Meanwhile, for mobile 

communication applications, sales of 76.8MHz crystal units with 

built-in thermistors and ultra-compact crystal units increased for 5G 

smartphones. Sales of tuning fork crystal units for smartphones and 

PCs also increased. As a result, net sales totaled ¥25,476 million, 

up 4.0% year on year.

(2) Crystal Devices

Sales of products for automotive applications including clock 

oscillators for vehicle-use cameras recovered rapidly after bottom-

ing out in the first quarter. Once again, the substantial drop in this 

first quarter resulted in a year-on-year decline for the full fiscal year. 

For mobile communication applications, while sales of clock oscilla-

tors for tablets and other devices increased, there was a decrease in 

sales for low-margin temperature-compensated crystal oscillators 

(TCXOs). Consequently, net sales declined 7.4% year on year to 

¥10,322 million.

(3) Others

Impacted by a shrinking single-lens reflex camera market, sales of 

optical products decreased. Accordingly, net sales fell 11.1% year 

on year, to ¥3,396 million.

Performance by Customer-Based Geographic 
Area

Performance by customer-based geographic area was as follows.

Japan

Sales of crystal oscillators for base station applications increased 

from the previous fiscal year. While sales for automotive applica-

tions recovered after bottoming out in the first quarter, the sub-

stantial drop in this first quarter resulted in a year-on-year decline 

for the full fiscal year. Coupled with this downturn, sales of optical 

products for single-lens reflex cameras also declined from the previ-

ous fiscal year. As a result, net sales in Japan fell 11.6% year on 

year, to ¥6,950 million.

Asia

In China, sales for automotive, mobile, and PC applications in-

creased year on year. In automotive applications, sales declined in 

the first quarter but recovered from the second quarter to exceed 

levels recorded prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. In mobile commu-

nication applications, sales to major Chinese communication 

equipment manufacturers declined significantly in the second half 

of the fiscal year due to the impact of tighter sanctions imposed by 

the U.S. government. This sales decline was, however, more than 

offset by increased sales of 76.8MHz crystal units with built-in 

thermistors for 5G smartphones to other Chinese smartphone 

manufacturers, resulting in a year-on-year upswing in sales. For the 

base station application, sales to major Chinese communication 

equipment manufacturers decreased. In South Korea, sales of 

ultra-compact crystal units for 5G smartphones increased. Accord-

ingly, net sales climbed 6.2% year on year, to ¥14,749 million in 

China; jumped 40.2%, to ¥2,290 million in South Korea; and 

declined 12.7%, to ¥2,265 million in other regions.

Europe

Sales for automotive applications recovered after bottoming out in 

the first quarter. However, the substantial drop in this first quarter 

resulted in a year-on-year decline for the full fiscal year. As a result, 

net sales declined 7.9% year on year, to ¥3,961 million in Germa-

ny, and edged down 1.2%, to ¥4,162 million in other countries.

North America

Sales of crystal units for blood glucose meters increased while sales 

for automotive applications recovered after bottoming out in the 

first quarter. The substantial drop in this first quarter resulted in a 

year-on-year decline for the full fiscal year. Consequently, net sales 

decreased 1.0% year on year to ¥3,606 million in the U.S. and 

declined 48.0% to ¥17 million in other areas.

R&D Expenses

NDK engages in R&D programs that aim to establish new technolo-

gies and manufacturing methods that will be the foundation for 

future products in the medium- and long terms. To better meet 

customer crystal device needs, the Group is strengthening its R&D 

systems, with the Sayama Plant as its hub. As part of this, we are 

conducting R&D to develop next-generation frequency control, 

selection, and detection devices as well as enhancing our design 

and process technologies, which form the core of our R&D.

 R&D expenses on a consolidated basis during the fiscal year 

under review totaled ¥1,613 million.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 3



Financial Condition 

As of the fiscal year-end, total assets stood at ¥63,054 million, 

¥8,506 million increase from the previous fiscal year-end, reflecting 

the following factors: an increase of ¥6,646 million in cash and 

cash equivalents, an increase of ¥1,018 million in trade receivables, 

a decrease of ¥2,801 million in inventories, and an increase of 

¥2,844 million in investments accounted for using the equity 

method after posting the Company’s 49% equity interest in NSD 

SAW Devices Co., Ltd. Total liabilities amounted to ¥49,501 million, 

¥303 million increase from the previous fiscal year-end, owing 

mainly to an increase of ¥1,183 million in loans and borrowings 

and an increase of ¥464 million in income taxes payable as well as 

a decrease of ¥1,630 million in provisions. Equity attributable to 

the owners of the Company stood at ¥13,552 million, ¥8,202 

million increase, due to factors including an increase of ¥4,932 

million associated with the issuance of Class A shares and the 

posting of ¥3,270 million in comprehensive income. As a result, the 

ratio of equity attributable to the owners of the Company was 

21.5%, 11.7 percentage points higher from the previous fiscal 

year-end.

Capital Financing and Cash Flow Analysis

The Group obtains funds for working capital and capital invest-

ments from internal sources and bank loans. Regarding bank loans, 

concerns surrounding cash flow for the foreseeable future have 

been significantly reduced following the implementation of an 

agreement reached in June 2020 with all the Company’s financial 

institutions to maintain the balance of loans until the end of 

September 2023. As of the end of the fiscal year under review, the 

balance of short-term loans and borrowings was ¥2,101 million, 

while the balance of long-term loans and borrowings was ¥31,630 

million.

 The balance of cash and cash equivalents on a consolidated basis 

at the end of the fiscal year under review amounted to ¥16,707 

million, an increase of ¥6,646 million from the end of the previous 

fiscal year. Cash flow activities were as follows:

•  Free cash flow amounted to a positive ¥437 million, ¥1,715 

million lower than the last fiscal year, reflecting net cash provided 

by operating activities of ¥124 million and net cash provided by 

investing activities of ¥313 million.

•  Net cash provided by operating activities totaled a positive ¥124 

million, ¥824 million lower than the previous fiscal year. Negative 

factors entailed a gain of ¥2,665 million on sales of subsidiary 

shares, a gain of ¥1,740 million from remeasurement relating to 

the application of equity method, and a decrease in provisions of 

¥1,837 million. Positive factors included income before income 

tax of ¥2,592 million, depreciation and amortization of ¥3,104 

million, and a decrease in inventories of ¥2,945 million.

•  Net cash provided by investing activities was a positive ¥313 

million, ¥891 million lower than a year earlier. Negative factors 

included expenditures of ¥2,256 million for purchase of property, 

plant and equipment, and ¥710 million for purchase of invest-

ments accounted for using the equity method. This was more 

than offset by ¥3,293 million in proceeds from sales of subsidiary 

shares resulting in a change in scope of consolidation as a posi-

tive factor.

•  Net cash provided by financing activities totaled a positive ¥5,420 

million, ¥5,443 million larger than the previous fiscal year, reflect-

ing ¥4,932 million in proceeds from the issuance of shares and 

¥1,059 million in net increase in short-term loans and borrowings.

Dividends 

NDK regards returning profit to shareholders as a management 

priority and aims to maintain stable dividend payments while taking 

into account earnings, financial position, and other factors. NDK 

seeks to maintain a virtuous circle through a reasonable balance 

between the accumulation of retained earnings and shareholder 

dividend payments. We are committed to further improving earn-

ings performance by conducting R&D and capital investments that 

enable NDK to manufacture high-value-added and high-quality 

products that will effectively strengthen the Group’s business 

structure.

 In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, we sincerely regret 

there will be no payment of dividends.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Nihon Dempa Kogyo Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
As of March 31, 2021 and 2020

Millions of yen
Thousands of  
U.S. dollars

ASSETS 2021 2020 2021

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) ¥16,707 ¥10,060 $150,907
Trade receivables (Note 6) 10,924 9,906 98,672
Inventories (Note 7) 10,134 12,936 91,536
Income taxes refundable 788 6 7,117
Derivative assets (Note 30) — 49 —
Others (Note 8) 2,961 2,520 26,745

Total current assets 41,515 35,479 374,988

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 9) 16,440 17,266 148,496
Intangible assets (Note 10) 176 228 1,589
Investments accounted for using the equity method (Note 11) 2,844 — 25,688
Other financial assets (Note 12) 1,024 803 9,249
Deferred tax assets (Note 28) 498 529 4,498
Others (Note 13) 553 240 4,995

Total non-current assets 21,538 19,067 194,544

Total assets ¥63,054 ¥54,547 $569,542

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of yen
Thousands of  
U.S. dollars

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2021 2020 2021

Current liabilities:
Loans and borrowings (Note 16) ¥ 2,101 ¥24,560 $ 18,977
Lease liabilities (Note 16) 466 479 4,209
Trade and other payables (Note 14) 7,334 7,520 66,245
Derivative liabilities (Note 30) 331 33 2,989
Provisions (Note 33) 321 2,003 2,899
Income taxes payable 609 145 5,500
Others (Note 15) 1,870 1,800 16,890

Total current liabilities 13,035 36,542 117,740

Non-current liabilities:
Loans and borrowings (Note 16) 31,630 7,987 285,701
Lease liabilities (Note 16) 1,525 1,297 13,774
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 28) 492 348 4,444
Employee benefits (Note 17) 2,411 2,661 21,777
Provisions (Note 33) 157 106 1,418
Deferred government grants 9 22 81
Others 239 230 2,158

Total non-current liabilities 36,466 12,655 329,383

Total liabilities 49,501 49,198 447,123

Equity:
Share capital (Note 18) 5,596 10,649 50,546
Share premium (Note 18) 5,515 3,068 49,814
Other components of equity (Note 18) (773) (1,716) (6,982)
Retained earnings 3,213 (6,652) 29,021

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 13,552 5,349 122,409

Total equity 13,552 5,349 122,409

Total liabilities and equity ¥63,054 ¥54,547 $569,542

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Nihon Dempa Kogyo Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Millions of yen
Thousands of  
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Net sales (Note 20) ¥ 39,195 ¥ 39,468 $ 354,033 
Cost of sales (Notes 21, 25 and 26) (32,616) (35,696) (294,607)

Gross profit 6,579 3,771 59,425 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 22, 25 and 26) (5,495) (5,922) (49,634)
Research and development expenses (Notes 23, 25 and 26) (1,613) (1,684) (14,569)
Other operating income (Note 24) 4,772 423 43,103 
Other operating expenses (Notes 24 and 26) (1,398) (4,875) (12,627)

Operating income/(loss) 2,844 (8,286) 25,688

Financial income (Note 27) 346 210 3,125 
Financial expenses (Note 27) (552) (568) (4,985)
Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity method (46) — (415)

Income/(loss) before income tax 2,592 (8,644) 23,412 

Income tax expenses (Note 28) (615) (64) (5,555)

Net income/(loss) for the period 1,976 (8,709) 17,848 

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan 459 176 4,145 
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 96 (64) 867 
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified (116) (5) (1,047)

Subtotal 439 106 3,965 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 914 (683) 8,255 
Cash flow hedges 7 28 63 
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified (66) (117) (596)

Subtotal 854 (773) 7,713 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of income tax 1,294 (666) 11,688 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period ¥  3,270 ¥ (9,376) $  29,536 

Net income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company ¥  1,976 ¥ (8,709) $  17,848 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company ¥  3,270 ¥ (9,376) $  29,536 

Yen U.S. dollars

Earnings per share (Note 29):

Basic earnings/(loss) per share ¥ 100.70 ¥(443.79) $    0.91 
Diluted earnings per share 61.27 — 0.55

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Nihon Dempa Kogyo Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Millions of yen

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital*

Treasury 
shares*

Share 
premium*

Financial assets 
measured at 

fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 

income**

Exchange 
differences 

on translation 
of foreign 

operations**
Cash flow 
hedges**

Other 
components 
of equity**

Retained 
earnings

Attributable 
to owners of 
the Company Total equity

Balance as of April 1, 2019 ¥10,649 ¥5,859 ¥(2,790) ¥3,069 ¥(58) ¥(761) ¥(53) ¥(873) ¥1,880 ¥14,725 ¥14,725
Total comprehensive income for the period

Net loss — — (8,709) (8,709) (8,709)
Other comprehensive income 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan — — 176 176 176
Net change in financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income — (69) (69) (69) (69)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations — (801) (801) (801) (801)
Cash flow hedges — 28 28 28 28

Total comprehensive loss for the period — — — — (69) (801) 28 (843) (8,532) (9,376) (9,376)
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners
Changes in treasury shares, net (0) (0) — (0) (0)

Total transactions with owners — — (0) (0) — — — — — (0) (0)
Balance as of March 31, 2020 ¥10,649 ¥5,859 ¥(2,790) ¥3,068 ¥(128) ¥(1,563) ¥(25) ¥(1,716) ¥(6,652) ¥5,349 ¥5,349
Total comprehensive income for the period

Net income — — 1,976 1,976 1,976
Other comprehensive income 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan — — 350 350 350
Net change in financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income — 88 88 88 88
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations — 847 847 847 847
Cash flow hedges — 7 7 7 7

Total comprehensive income for the period — — — — 88 847 7 943 2,327 3,270 3,270
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity   

Issuance of shares 2,500 2,500 2,500  — 5,000 5,000
Share issuance costs (67) (67)  — (67) (67)
Transfer from share capital to share premium (7,553) 7,553 7,553  — — —
Transfer from share premium to retained earnings (7,538) (7,538)  — 7,538 — —
Changes in treasury shares, net (0)  (0)  — (0) (0)

Total transactions with owners (5,053) 2,446 (0) 2,446 — — — — 7,538 4,932 4,932
Balance as of March 31, 2021 ¥5,596 ¥8,305 ¥(2,790) ¥5,515 ¥(39) ¥(715) ¥(18) ¥(773) ¥3,213 ¥13,552 ¥13,552

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Share 
capital

Additional 
paid-in 
capital*

Treasury 
shares*

Share 
premium*

Financial assets 
measured at 

fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 

income**

Exchange 
differences 

on translation 
of foreign 

operations**
Cash flow 
hedges**

Other 
components 
of equity**

Retained 
earnings

Attributable 
to owners of 
the Company Total equity

Balance as of April 1, 2020 $96,188  $52,922 $(25,200) $27,712 $(1,156) $(14,117) $(225) $(15,499) $(60,084) $48,315 $48,315 
Total comprehensive income for the period

Net income — — 17,848 17,848 17,848 
Other comprehensive income 

Remeasurement of defined benefit plan — — 3,161 3,161 3,161 
Net change in financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income — 794 794 794 794 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations — 7,650 7,650 7,650 7,650
Cash flow hedges — 63 63 63 63 

Total comprehensive income for the period — — — — 794 7,650 63 8,517 21,018 29,536 29,536 
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Issuance of shares 22,581 22,581 22,581 — 45,163 45,163 
Share issuance costs (605) (605) — (605) (605)
Transfer from share capital to share premium (68,223) 68,223 68,223 — — —
Transfer from share premium to retained earnings (68,087) (68,087) — 68,087 — —
Changes in treasury shares, net (0)  (0) — (0) (0)

Total transactions with owners (45,641) 22,093 (0) 22,093 — — — — 68,087 44,548 44,548 
Balance as of March 31, 2021 $50,546 $75,015 $(25,200) $49,814 $(352) $(6,458) $(162) $(6,982) $29,021 $122,409 $122,409 

*  The figures in the share premium column are calculated by totalling additional paid-in capital and treasury shares.
**  The figures in the other components of equity column are calculated by totalling financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, exchange differences on transla-

tion of foreign operations and cash flow hedges.

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Nihon Dempa Kogyo Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries 
For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Millions of yen
Thousands of  
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Operating activities:
Income/(loss) before income tax ¥ 2,592 ¥ (8,644) $ 23,412 
Depreciation and amortisation 3,104 3,697 28,037 
Gain on sales of property, plant and equipment (4) (1) (36)
Impairment losses of property, plant and equipment 328 3,932 2,962 
Share of loss of investments accounted for using the equity method 46 — 415 
Gain on sales of other financial assets — (94) —
Impairment losses of other financial assets — 45 —
Government grant income (13) (31) (117)
Gain on sales of shares of subsidiary (2,665) — (24,071)
Gain from remeasurement relating to application of the equity method (1,740) — (15,716)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables (802) 564 (7,244)
Decrease in inventories 2,945 1,224 26,601 
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable - other (245) 29 (2,212)
Increase in consumption tax/value-added tax receivables (102) (191) (921)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 263 (1,138) 2,375 
(Decrease)/increase in accrued expenses (895) 415 (8,084)
Increase/(decrease) in accrued bonuses 155 (61) 1,400 
Decrease/(increase) in derivative assets 49 (41) 442 
Increase/(decrease) in derivative liabilities 307 (49) 2,773 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (1,837) 1,649 (16,592)
Interest and dividend income (86) (82) (776)
Interest expense 521 311 4,705 
Interest and dividends received 86 74 776 
Interest paid (387) (303) (3,495)
Income tax paid, net (903) (65) (8,156)
Other, net (592) (293) (5,347)

Net cash provided by operating activities 124 948 1,120 

Investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,256) (2,143) (20,377)
Purchase of intangible assets (19) (43) (171)
Purchase of other financial assets (8) (8) (72)
Proceeds from sales of land use right — 2,685 —
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 10 121 90 
Proceeds from sales of shares of subsidiary resulting in change in scope of consolidation 3,293 — 29,744 
Purchase of investments accounted for using the equity method (710) — (6,413)
Proceeds from sales of other financial assets 3 591 27 
Other, net (1) 0 (9)

Net cash provided by investing activities 313 1,204 2,827 

Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of shares 4,932 — 44,548 
Repayment of long-term loans and borrowings — (9,836) —
Net increase in short-term loans and borrowings 1,059 10,348 9,565 
Repayment of lease liabilities (571) (532) (5,157)
Cash dividends paid (0) (1) (0) 
Purchase and sales of treasury shares, net (0) (0) (0) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 5,420 (23) 48,956 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,857 2,129 52,903 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 10,060 8,231 90,868 

Net effect of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents 788 (299) 7,117 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 5) ¥16,707 ¥10,060 $150,907 

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

ANNUAL REPORT 2021 9



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Nihon Dempa Kogyo Co., Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

1. Reporting Entity
Nihon Dempa Kogyo Co., Ltd. (“NDK” or the “Company”) is a com-
pany domiciled in Japan. The Company’s head office is located in 
Sasazuka, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo. The main activities of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are the production and sales 
of crystal-related products such as crystal devices. The consolidated 
financial statements of the Company as of and for the years ended 
March 31, 2021 and 2020 comprise those of the Group.

2. Basis of Preparation
(a) Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and interpre-
tations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee.
 The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by 
Hiromi Katoh, Representative Director and President on June 25, 2021.

(b) Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Japanese yen, 
which is the functional currency of NDK, and figures of less than one 
million yen are omitted.
 As stated in Note 3 “Significant Accounting Policies,” the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost basis except for the following certain assets and liabilities:
•  Financial instruments measured at fair value.
•  Defined benefit assets and liabilities are recognised as the present 

value of the defined benefit obligation, less the fair value of the 
plan assets.

 The translations of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollars are 
included solely for the convenience of the reader as supplementary 
information, using the prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2021, 
which was ¥110.71 to U.S. $1.00. The convenience translations 
should not be construed as representations that the Japanese yen 
amounts have been, could have been, or could in the future be con-
verted into U.S. dollars at this or any other rate of exchange.
 Accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Group 
entities and are consistent with those used in the previous year unless 
stated otherwise.
 The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimates are revised if the revision affects 
only that period. However, revisions to accounting estimates are rec-
ognised in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.
 Judgements and estimates made by the management in the appli-
cation of IFRS that have a significant effect on the amounts rec-
ognised in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:
•  Estimate of useful lives and residual values of property, plant, equip-

ment and intangible assets (refer to Notes 9 and 10) 
•  Accounting for and valuation of provisions (refer to Note 33) 
•  Devaluation of inventories (refer to Note 7) 
•  Valuation of trade and other receivables (refer to Notes 6, 8 and 30)
•  Utilisation of tax losses and deductions (refer to Note 28)
•  Planning and valuation premises upon which impairment tests are 

based (refer to Notes 9 and 10) 
•  Measurement of defined benefit obligations (refer to Note 17)
•  Determining lease terms of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 

(refer to Note 31)

(Economic impact of COVID-19)
As for the prospects of global economies for the coming fiscal year, 
aggressive financial measures taken by the U.S. and the progress of 
vaccination projects against COVID-19 are expected to boost econo-
mies. Contrarily, in Japan, regional differences exist in the status of 
the pandemic. Especially in the metropolitan and other highly-popu-
lated areas, trends of infectious expansion caused by viral variants and 
severer conditions of patients are observed. As such, the speed of 
economic normalization varies even among developed nations.
 The prospects of market environments surrounding the Group are 
positive, on a medium- to-long-term basis, with an expected bigger 
market for 5G smartphones, following more ADAS devices to be 
loaded in automobiles and enhanced infrastructure for “5G” base 
stations. Accordingly, in the crystal market where the Group belongs, 
we can expect a growing demand for crystal devices for automotive 
applications, 5G base stations, and smartphones. Hence, the Group 
expects continued steady progress in the demand for crystal devices 
in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022.
 Therefore, consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
(including an assessment of planning and valuation premises upon 
which impairment tests are based) according to the following 
assumptions:
(Demand side)
•  No significant economic activity regress will occur even with a tem-

porary expansion of the COVID-19 pandemic depending on areas.
•  The overall demand in the crystal devices market will continue to 

progress steadily.
(Supply side)
•  The Group does not expect any suspension of production activities 

due to COVID-19 at any production plant.

(c) Change in Classification
(Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable - other “, “Increase in con-
sumption tax/value-added tax receivables,” and “Increase/(decrease) 
in accrued expenses,” which were all included in “Others” for the fis-
cal year ended March 31, 2020, are separately presented in 
“Operating activities” from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, to 
improve the clarity of presentation of the consolidated financial state-
ments. Reflecting this change, comparative consolidated statements 
of cash flows for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 have been 
reclassified.
 As a result, “Others” of ¥ (39) million in “Operating activities” for 
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020 is reclassified as “Increase in 
accounts receivable - other “of ¥29 million, “Increase in consumption 
tax/value-added tax receivables” of ¥(191) million, “Increase in 
accrued expenses” of ¥415 million, and “Others” of ¥(293) million.

(d) Change in Significant Accounting Policies
Not applicable.

 
3. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are the entities controlled by the Group. In case that the 
Group has exposure or right to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and the ability to use its power to affect those returns, it 
controls that entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included 
in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which the 
control commences until the date on which the control ceases.

(ii) Share of entities accounted for using the equity method 
The Group’s share of entities accounted for using the equity method 
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consists of the share of an associate held by the Group. An associate 
is an entity over which the Group has significant influence, being the 
power to participate in its financial and operating policy decisions 
without the power to control or jointly control those policies. Under 
the equity method, on initial recognition, the investment in an associ-
ate is recognised at cost, including transaction costs, and is subse-
quently adjusted to reflect the Group’s share of the net profit or loss 
of the associate. The share of net income and other comprehensive 
income of the entities accounted for using the equity method is 
included in the consolidated financial statements until the date the 
Group’s significant influence or joint control ceases. 

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised gains aris-
ing from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in 
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is 
no evidence of impairment.

(b) Foreign Currency
(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into functional cur-
rencies at the foreign exchange rate effective at the date of the trans-
action.
 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 
the consolidated statement of financial position date are translated 
into functional currencies at the foreign exchange rate effective at 
that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are rec-
ognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currencies are translat-
ed using the exchange rate at the date of transaction. Non-monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated 
at fair value are translated into functional currencies at the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair values were determined.

(ii) Financial statements of foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, other than those for 
which the functional currency is Japanese yen, are translated into the 
presentation currency (Japanese yen) at the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at the consolidated statement of financial position date. The 
revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into 
Japanese yen at the average rates of exchange for the period unless 
the exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Foreign exchange differenc-
es arising on translation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.
 The exchange rates for major currencies against Japanese yen for 
the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Yen

Year-end rate Average rate

2021 2020 2021 2020

U.S.A. US$ ¥110.71 ¥108.83 ¥106.17 ¥109.10
U.K. GBP 152.23 133.32 138.68 138.51
Italy EUR 129.80 119.55 123.73 121.14
China RMB 16.84 15.31 15.63 15.66
Hong Kong HK$ 14.24 14.04 13.69 13.96
Malaysia MYR 26.66 25.18 25.39 26.19
Singapore SG$ 82.27 76.37 77.65 79.47

(c) Financial Instruments
Financial assets
(i) Initial recognition and measurement
The Group initially recognises trade and other receivables at the date 
they are originated. Other financial assets are initially recognised at 
the transaction date when the Group becomes a party to the contrac-
tual provisions of the financial instrument.
 At initial recognition, all financial assets are measured at fair value. 
But those that are not classified as financial assets measured at fair 

value through profit or loss are measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. 
However, trade receivables that do not contain significant financial 
components are measured at the transaction price. Transaction costs 
of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement
The Group classifies the financial assets held as follows:
1)  Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Financial assets held by the Group are measured at amortised cost if 
both of the following conditions are met:
•  The financial asset is held in a business model whose objective is to 

hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.
•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 

dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal amount 
outstanding.

 After initial recognition, the carrying amounts of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost are recognised using the effective interest 
method. Both the amortisation using the effective interest method 
and the gains or losses on derecognition of the financial assets mea-
sured at amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss for the period.

2)  Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income

Financial assets held by the Group are classified as debt instruments 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both 
of the following conditions are met:
•  The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective 

is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling the 
financial asset. 

•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and inter-
est on the principal amount outstanding.

 These financial assets are measured at fair value after initial recog-
nition, and changes in the fair value are recognised as other compre-
hensive income. If the Group derecognises these financial assets, the 
cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

3)  Equity instruments measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income

The Group has made an irrevocable election to present subsequent 
changes in the fair value of certain equity instruments in other com-
prehensive income, and classifies them in equity instruments mea-
sured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
 These financial assets are measured at fair value after initial recog-
nition, and changes in the fair value are recognised as other compre-
hensive income. If the Group derecognises these financial assets, the 
cumulative gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified to retained earnings.
 Dividends from equity instruments measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are recognised in profit or loss.

4)  Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that are not classified above are classified as financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. These financial 
assets are measured at fair value after initial recognition, and changes 
in their fair value are recognised in profit or loss. 

(iii) Impairment of financial assets
With respect to impairment of financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, the Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses 
on such financial assets. At each reporting date, the Group assesses 
whether the credit risks on the financial assets have increased signifi-
cantly since initial recognition. If credit risk on a financial asset has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance for 
that financial asset is measured at an amount equal to the 12-month 
expected credit losses. If credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
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significantly since initial recognition, the loss allowance is measured at 
an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. However, 
regarding trade receivables and others that do not contain significant 
financial components, the loss allowance on them is always measured 
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. The 
amounts of these measurements are recognised as profit or loss. In 
the event of reducing impairment loss after the recognition of impair-
ment loss, the decrease in impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

(iv) Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises financial assets if contractual right to cash 
flows from financial assets expires or right to receive cash flows from 
financial assets is transferred and all risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial assets are transferred substantially. 

Financial liabilities
The Group initially recognises all financial liabilities on trading day 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions. The 
financial liabilities except for derivatives are measured at fair value 
deducting transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue 
of the financial liabilities. After initial recognition, they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Group 
derecognises the financial liabilities when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Offset of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 
is presented in the statement of financial position when the Group 
has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and intends 
either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
(i)Derivatives
While the Group uses forward exchange contracts and currency swap 
to hedge its currency risk, it uses interest rate swap to hedge its inter-
est-rate risk. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the 
contract date. After initial recognition, they are measured at fair value 
of the end of the period. The changes in the fair value of the deriva-
tive are recognised immediately in profit or loss when the derivatives 
are not designated as hedging instrument or the portion of changes 
in the fair value of the derivatives is not effective.

(ii) Hedge accounting
The Group designates interest rate swap as a hedge instrument and 
accounts the swap as cash flow hedges. At the inception of designat-
ed hedging relationships, the Group documents risk management 
objectives and strategies about hedge instruments and hedge items 
to which hedge accounting is applied. The effect of a hedge is evalu-
ated continuously from starting the hedge. When a derivative is des-
ignated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in OCI and 
accumulated in other components of equity. The amounts accumulat-
ed in other components of equity are reclassified to profit or loss in 
the same period or periods during which the hedge items affect profit 
or loss.

(d) Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling 
expenses. Cost is based primarily on the moving-average cost for raw 
materials and first-in, first-out cost for finished products, semi-fin-
ished products, and work in process. For processed inventories, cost 
includes the applicable allocation of fixed and variable overhead costs.

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment
(i) Owned assets
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (refer to Significant Accounting 
Policies (h)).
 Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the asset, the costs of dismantling and removing the 
items and restoring the site on which they are located and borrowing 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset.

(ii) Subsequent expenditure
The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equip-
ment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow 
to the Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-
day servicing of property, plant and equipment are expensed in profit 
or loss as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the following estimated useful lives: 
•  Buildings and structures 3-50 years
•  Machinery and vehicles 2-15 years
•  Furniture and fixtures 2-20 years
 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date they 
are available for use.
 No depreciation is provided on land and construction in progress. 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at 
each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

(f) Intangible Assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the 
Group’s interest in the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
acquired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses (refer to Significant Accounting Policies (h)). Goodwill is subject 
to an annual impairment test and to an impairment write-down, if 
applicable. Impairments of goodwill are not reversed.

(ii) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are measured at cost, less accumulated amor-
tisation, and any accumulated impairment losses (refer to Significant 
Accounting Policies (h)), unless useful lives are indefinite. Other intan-
gible assets mainly include software and patents.

(iii) Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of 
gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is 
recognised in profit or loss when incurred. Development expenditure 
is capitalised only if development costs can be measured reliably, the 
product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future 
economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has 
sufficient resources to complete the development and to use or sell 
the asset. 
 Other development expenditure is expensed in profit or loss as 
incurred.

(iv) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised 
only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed in 
profit or loss as incurred.

(v) Amortisation
Amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of intangible assets other than goodwill, 
unless such lives are indefinite. Other intangible assets are amortised 
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from the date they are available for use. Amortisation methods, use-
ful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
•  Software 3-5 years
•  Patents  12 years

(g) Leases
(The policy is applied on or after April 1, 2019)
At the inception of a contract, the Group determines whether the 
contract is, or contains, a lease. The group deems that a contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consider-
ation. 
 The group reviews the following matters in assessment of whether 
a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset:
•  Whether the use of an identified asset is included in the contract.
•  Whether the Group has the right to receive almost all the economic 

benefits from the use of the asset over the entire period of usage. 
•  Whether the Group has the right to give instructions on the use of 

the asset.
 Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at 
the lease commencement date. The group elects not to recognise the 
right-of-use asset and the lease liability for short-term leases that have 
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases for which the underlying 
asset is of low value. Lease payments associated with those leases are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
 The cost of the right-of-use asset is initially measured at the 
amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities adjusted by any 
initial direct costs, prepaid lease payments and an estimate of costs to 
be incurred in dismantling and removing the underlying asset. The 
Group depreciates the right-of-use asset from the commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use 
asset or the end of the lease term on a straight-line basis. In addition, 
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced due to 
impairment losses, which is adjusted at remeasurement of the rele-
vant lease liability. The right-of-use assets are contained in “property, 
plant and equipment” on “Consolidated Statements of Financial 
Position.”
 In measuring lease liabilities, the Group has elected not to separate 
a lease component and a related non-lease component. The lease lia-
bilities for leases are measured at the present value of the remaining 
of total lease payments at the commencement date of lease, dis-
counted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate is 
used.
 The total lease payments included in the measurement of the lease 
liability comprise the following payments:
•  Fixed lease payments.
•  Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value 

guarantees.
•  The exercise price of a purchase option.
•  Payments of penalties for terminating the lease.
 Lease liabilities are subsequently measured by increasing the carry-
ing amounts to reflect interest on the lease liabilities and by reducing 
the carrying amounts to reflect lease payments made. They are 
remeasured, with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use asset, when there is a change in future lease payments following 
a contract renegotiation, a change of an index or rate or a reassess-
ment of options.

(h) Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than 
inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, then the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated. For goodwill, and intangible assets that have indefinite 
useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable 
amount is estimated each year at the same time.
 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the 

higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assess-
ing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that can-
not be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that 
are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups 
of assets (the “cash-generating unit” or “CGU”). For the purposes of 
goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has been allo-
cated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested 
reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination.
 The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash 
inflows. If there is an indication that a corporate asset may be 
impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to 
which the corporate asset belongs.
 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset 
or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in 
respect to the CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount 
of any goodwill allocated to the CGUs, and then to reduce the carry-
ing amounts of the other assets in the CGUs on a pro rata basis.
 An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect 
of other assets, impairment losses recognised in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there 
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisa-
tion, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the consolidated statements of financial 
position when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event. It is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obliga-
tion, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obli-
gation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of 
the discount is recognised as a financial expense.

(i) Asset retirement obligation
In accordance with a contractual obligation to a landlord to dismantle 
and remove leasehold improvements from a leased office at the end 
of the lease contract, a provision for asset retirement obligation is rec-
ognised.

(ii) Settlement for products sold
The Group makes a provision for settlement for products sold regard-
ing the damage incurred by customers attributed to the Group’s prod-
ucts.

(iii) Business structural reform
The Group makes a provision to cover estimated future losses related 
to business structural reform.

(j) Employee Benefits
(i) Defined benefit plans
The Group’s net obligation with respect to defined benefit pension 
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount 
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their ser-
vice in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to 
determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is 
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deducted. The discount rate is the yield at the consolidated statement 
of financial position date on high quality corporate bonds that have 
maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations. 
The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the project-
ed unit credit method. Adjustment by the remeasurement of the 
Group’s net obligation with respect to defined benefit pension plans 
is recognised immediately in other comprehensive income, and is 
reclassified to retained earnings.

(ii) Defined contribution plans
The employees of the Company and certain subsidiaries are provided 
defined contribution plans based on local practices and regulations. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans 
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred. In addition, 
the Company participates in a defined benefit multi-employer plan. 
The Company accounts for the plan as if it were a defined contribu-
tion plan because sufficient information on the Company’s share of 
the defined benefit obligation and plan assets in the plan is not avail-
able to use defined benefit accounting.

(iii) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undis-
counted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.
 A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid as a 
bonus or vacation pay if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount, and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

(iv) Termination benefits
The group provides termination benefits when terminating the 
employment of an employee or group of employees before the nor-
mal retirement date, or provides termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made in order to encourage voluntary redundancy. When the 
group is demonstrably committed to the termination (when the 
Group has a detailed formal plan for the termination and when there 
is no realistic possibility of withdrawal), the group recognises the ter-
mination benefits as expenses.

(k) Revenue recognition
With the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue based on 
the following five-step approach.
 Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
 Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
 Step 3:  Determine the transaction price.
 Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obliga-

tions in the contract.
 Step 5:  Recognise revenue when the entity satisfies a performance 

obligation. 
 The main activities of the Group are the integrated manufacture 
and sale of quartz crystal units, crystal devices, ultrasonic transducers 
and synthetic quartz crystals. The revenue recorded in these business-
es is recorded as sales according to the contract with the customer.
 For sales of the Group’s products, because the customer obtains 
control over the products upon delivery, when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, the perfor-
mance obligation is judged to have been satisfied and revenue is 
therefore recognised upon delivery of the products. Also, revenue is 
measured at the consideration promised in a contract with a custom-
er, less discounts, rebates, returned products and other items.
 The consideration promised in product sales contracts is received 
mainly within one year from the time the product is delivered to the 
customer. The contracts with customers do not contain a significant 
financial component.

(l) Government Grants
Government grants related to certain investments are measured at 
fair value and are recognised in the consolidated statements of finan-
cial position initially as deferred income when there is reasonable 
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply 

with the conditions attached to the grants. Grants that compensate 
the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as other operating 
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in 
which the expenses are recognised. Grants that compensate the 
Group for the cost of an asset are recognised as other operating 
income in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the useful life of 
the asset.

(m) Financial Income and Expenses
Financial income and expenses mainly comprise interest income, divi-
dend income, interest expense on borrowings calculated using the 
effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses, and 
changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss.
 Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking 
into account the effective yield on the asset. Dividend income is rec-
ognised in profit or loss on the date that the dividend is declared. 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in 
profit or loss using the effective interest method.

(n) Income Taxes
Income taxes comprise current and deferred taxes. Income taxes are 
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to 
items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.
 Current taxes are the expected taxes payable on the taxable income 
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date, and any adjustment 
to taxes payable in respect of previous years.
 Deferred taxes are recognised in respect of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The 
following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not 
deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabili-
ties that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will 
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.
 The amount of deferred taxes recognised is based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date.
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realised simultaneously.
 A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits 
and deductible temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no lon-
ger probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(o) Segment Information
An operating segment is a component that engages in business activ-
ities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including 
revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other compo-
nents of the Group.
 The main activities of the Group are the integrated manufacture 
and sale of quartz crystal units, crystal devices, ultrasonic transducers, 
and synthetic quartz crystals. There is no separate operating segment 
whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s man-
agement to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the 
segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial 
information is available. Therefore, the Group has a single reportable 
segment.

(p) New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted
The IASB has issued some standards, interpretations and amendments 
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to existing standards whose application is not yet mandatory and 
which have not yet been applied by the Group ahead of time, except 
for Amendments to IAS 12 (Income taxes). These standards and inter-
pretations (excluding IAS 12) are not expected to have significant 
effects on future consolidated financial statements of the Group. 

 Amendments to IAS 12 are applied to deferred tax related to assets 
and liabilities arising from a single transaction. These amendments 
will be adopted from the fiscal year beginning April 1, 2023. The 
impact of the amendments on the Group is under consideration and 
cannot be estimated at this point. 

4. Segment Information
General information
The main activities of the Group are the integrated manufacture and sale of quartz crystal units, crystal devices, ultrasonic transducers, and synthet-
ic quartz crystals, and there are no separate operating segments. Therefore, the Group has a single reportable segment.

Information about products and services
Net sales by type of products are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 Increase/ (decrease) 2021

Amount Composition (%) Amount Composition (%) Amount Change (%) Amount

Quartz crystal units ¥25,476 65.0 ¥24,499 62.1 ¥ 977 4.0 $230,114 

Crystal devices 10,322 26.3 11,147 28.2 (824) (7.4) 93,234 

Others 3,396 8.7 3,821 9.7 (425) (11.1) 30,674 

Total ¥39,195 100.0 ¥39,468 100.0 ¥(272) (0.7) $354,033 

Information about geographical areas
Sales by geographical areas and non-current assets other than financial instruments, deferred tax assets, post-employment benefit assets, and rights 
arising under insurance contracts are as set out below. Sales by geographical areas are categorised by country or areas of customers, and non-cur-
rent assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Millions of yen

2021

Japan China Germany U.S.A. Korea Mexico Singapore Others Total

Net sales ¥ 6,950 ¥14,749 ¥3,961 ¥3,606 ¥2,290 ¥822 ¥790 ¥6,024 ¥39,195
Non-current assets 11,699 3,123 — 78 — — 26 1,703 16,631

Millions of yen

2020

Japan China Germany U.S.A. Korea Mexico Singapore Others Total

Net sales ¥ 7,858 ¥13,893 ¥4,301 ¥3,643 ¥1,633 ¥867 ¥759 ¥6,509 ¥39,468
Non-current assets 13,539 1,995 — 95 — — 36 1,854 17,521

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2021

Japan China Germany U.S.A. Korea Mexico Singapore Others Total

Net sales $ 62,776 $133,221 $35,778 $32,571 $20,684 $7,424 $7,135 $54,412 $354,033
Non-current assets 105,672 28,208 — 704 — — 234 15,382 150,221

Major customers
During the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, there were no major external customers with net sales exceeding 10% of the Group’s total net 
sales. 

5. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Cash on hand and bank deposits ¥16,707 ¥10,060 $150,907 

Cash and cash equivalents  
 in the consolidated statements  
 of cash flows ¥16,707 ¥10,060 $150,907 

6. Trade Receivables

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Notes receivable and electronically 
 recorded monetary claims ¥   516 ¥  491 $ 4,660 

Accounts receivable 10,439 9,453 94,291
Loss allowance (31) (38) (280)

 Total ¥10,924 ¥9,906 $98,672 
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7. Inventories

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Finished products ¥ 3,370 ¥ 4,823 $ 30,439
Semi-finished products 580 915 5,238
Work in process 2,305 3,195 20,820
Raw materials and supplies 3,877 4,002 35,019

 Total ¥10,134 ¥12,936 $ 91,536 

Write-down of inventories  
 recognised as an expense* ¥ 1,873 ¥ 1,680 $ 16,918 

Reversal of write-down*, ** ¥ (1,677) ¥ (1,915) $(15,147)

***  Write-down and the reversal of write-down of inventories are included in cost of sales.
***  Since it is not possible for the Company to track individual utilisation of the inventory 

allowance, the total amount of write-down recognised at the previous year-end is 
reversed to cost of sales in the current period.

***  There were no inventories pledged as security as of March 31, 2021 and 2020.

8. Other Current Assets

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Prepaid expenses ¥  296 ¥  241 $ 2,673
Other receivables 501 277 4,525
Advance payments 44 41 397
Consumption tax/ 
 value-added tax receivables 1,883 1,712 17,008
Others 235 246 2,122

 Total ¥2,961 ¥2,520 $26,745

9. Property, Plant and Equipment

Millions of yen

2020

Land
Buildings  

and structures
Machinery and 

vehicles
Furniture  

and fixtures
Construction 
in progress

Right-of-  
use assets Total

Cost:
 At April 1 ¥3,687 ¥ 26,822 ¥ 76,487 ¥ 5,607 ¥ 942 ¥   — ¥113,547
 Adjustment for the application of IFRS 16 — — (89) (82) — 1,379 1,207
 At April 1 (after adjustment) ¥3,687 ¥ 26,822 ¥ 76,398 ¥ 5,525 ¥ 942 ¥1,379 ¥114,755
 Additions — 358 922 226 497 1,093 3,099
 Disposals (60) (690) (7,697) (814) (0) (107) (9,370)
 Currency translation differences (13) (185) (1,095) (62) (28) (61) (1,447)
 Transfers and others — 23 522 27 (587) — (13)

At March 31 ¥3,613 ¥ 26,328 ¥ 69,050 ¥ 4,902 ¥ 824 ¥2,304 ¥107,023

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses:

 At April 1 ¥   — ¥(19,983) ¥(67,499) ¥(4,883) ¥ (76) ¥   — ¥ (92,443)
 Adjustment for the application of IFRS 16 — — 46 48 — (95) —
 At April 1 (after adjustment) ¥   — ¥(19,983) ¥(67,453) ¥(4,835) ¥ (76) ¥  (95) ¥ (92,443)
 Depreciation for the year — (707) (2,136) (238) — (543) (3,626)
 Impairment losses (941) (1,783) (708) (45) (124) (329) (3,932)
 Disposals — 590 7,665 792 — 37 9,086
 Currency translation differences — 125 957 57 2 14 1,158
 Transfers and others — — (39) — 40 — 0

At March 31 ¥ (941) ¥(21,756) ¥(61,714) ¥(4,269) ¥(157) ¥ (916) ¥ (89,757)

 Net book value ¥2,671 ¥  4,571 ¥  7,335 ¥  632 ¥ 666 ¥1,387 ¥ 17,266
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2021

Land
Buildings  

and structures
Machinery and 

vehicles
Furniture  

and fixtures
Construction 
in progress

Right-of-  
use assets Total Total

Cost:
At April 1 ¥ 3,613 ¥ 26,328 ¥ 69,050 ¥ 4,902 ¥ 824 ¥ 2,304 ¥107,023 $ 966,696 
Additions — 1,593 618 173 154 672 3,211 29,003
Disposals — (92) (8,323) (229) (6) (448) (9,099) (82,187)
Decrease resulting from exclusion of 
subsidiary from consolidation (1,319) (6,570) (3,815) (120) (19) (9) (11,854) (107,072)

Currency translation differences 9 239 547 34 15 111 959 8,662
Transfers and others — 338 250 63 (639) — 13 117

At March 31 ¥ 2,303 ¥ 21,837 ¥ 58,328 ¥ 4,824 ¥ 328 ¥ 2,630 ¥ 90,253 $ 815,219 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses:
At April 1 ¥  (941) ¥(21,756) ¥(61,714) ¥(4,269) ¥(157) ¥  (916) ¥ (89,757) $(810,739) 
Depreciation for the year —  (508) (1,763) (231) —  (536) (3,040) (27,459)
Impairment losses (137) (152) (18) (18) — (0) (328) (2,962)
Disposals — 92 8,319 167 6 436 9,022 81,492
Decrease resulting from exclusion of 
subsidiary from consolidation 689 6,387 3,629 113 — 1 10,822 97,750

Currency translation differences — (79) (411) (22) (10) (19) (543) (4,904)
Transfers and others — (113) (72) 44 150 — 10 90

At March 31 ¥  (389) ¥(16,130) ¥(52,031) ¥(4,215) ¥ (11) ¥(1,033) ¥ (73,812) $(666,714)

 Net book value ¥ 1,914 ¥  5,706 ¥  6,297 ¥   608 ¥ 317 ¥ 1,596 ¥ 16,440 $ 148,496

Notes: 1.  Depreciation is included in cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, research and development expenses and other operating expenses in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income. 

 2.  There were no restrictions on title, and property, plant and equipment pledged as security as of March 31,2021 and 2020.

Construction in progress
During the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Group acquired new production lines under construction for crystal units and crystal oscilla-
tors. The cost of acquisition was ¥317 million ($2,863 thousand) and ¥666 million as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Impairment losses
The Group is categorising assets or groups of assets by company and business location based on the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit” or “CGU”).Idle assets which are not 
expected to be used in the future are grouped by individual asset units.
 During the year ended March 31, 2020, based on the forecast of the sales decrease for mobile markets which have been unprofitable, impair-
ment losses were recognised for corporate assets of Hakodate NDK Co., Ltd. which mainly produces crystal units for mobile markets. The losses 
were also recognised for assets which would be unnecessary due to the factory relocation of Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd.. In addition, impairment losses 
were recognised for manufacturing equipment of Furukawa NDK Co., Ltd., Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd. and the newly established Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd., 
which mainly produce units and crystal devices for the automotive market. This is because sales for the automotive market are expected to decrease 
due to COVID-19. These losses were recognised in other operating expenses and cost of sales on the consolidated statements of comprehensive 
income.
 During the year ended March 31, 2021, impairment losses were recognised in other operating expenses. The loss was recognised for equipment 
and other facilities that would cease to be used following the closure of the subsidiary, Niigata NDK Co., Ltd., on September 30, 2021.
 The cash-generating unit composed of the Company and its sales subsidiaries has recorded operating losses in the previous years, so an indica-
tion of impairment exists. However, the Group has determined that recognition of impairment loss is unnecessary for the year ended March 31, 
2021, from an impairment test result of fixed assets in the cash-generating unit. The net book value of the property, plant and equipment, and 
Intangible assets combined was ¥7,372 million at the end of the fiscal year under review. The impairment test was conducted by measuring value in 
use, based on the estimated future cash flows, using certain assumptions such as market growth forecast and reduction effects of loss amounts of 
defects in process. 
 The Group has determined that there is no indication of impairment for other cash-generating units.
 Impairment losses for the year ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows: 

 
Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2021

Location Asset/Asset group Category Total Total

Niigata NDK Co., Ltd.
(Niigata-city, Niigata, Japan) Crystal units and Crystal oscillators Land, Building, Machinery and others ¥328 $2,962

Total ¥328 $2,962

Note:  The recoverable amount of the asset group was measured at value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use was calculated using the discounted present value of future cash 
flows. The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was 9.0%. The fair value less costs of disposal was based on the estimated amount on disposal after deducting the costs of disposal.
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Millions of yen

2020

Location Asset/Asset group Category Total

Furukawa NDK Co., Ltd.
(Osaki-city, Miyagi, Japan) Crystal units and Crystal oscillators Land, Building, Machinery and others ¥1,180

Hakodate NDK Co., Ltd.
(Hakodate-city, Hokkaido, Japan) Corporate assets Land, Building and others ¥1,884

Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd.
(Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, China)

Crystal units and Crystal oscillators Machinery and others ¥  413

Idle assets Machinery ¥   78

Newly established Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd.  
(Suzhou, Jiangsu Province, China) Crystal units and Crystal oscillators Building and others ¥  376

Total ¥3,932

Note:  The recoverable amount of the asset group was measured at value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. Value in use was calculated using the discounted present value 
of future cash flows. The pre-tax discount rate used in the calculation was from 8.0% to 14.3%. The fair value less costs of disposal was based on the estimated amount on 
disposal after deducting the costs of disposal. 

10. Intangible Assets

Millions of yen

2020

Computer 
software Goodwill Patents Others Total

Cost:
At April 1 ¥ 650 ¥ 1,356 ¥ 35 ¥101 ¥ 2,144
Additions 30 — — 2 33
Disposals (48) — — — (48)
Currency translation differences (5) — — (0) (5)
Transfers and others 53 — — (46) 7

At March 31 ¥ 681 ¥ 1,356 ¥ 35 ¥ 57 ¥ 2,131

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses:
At April 1 ¥(500) ¥(1,341) ¥(25) ¥ (17) ¥(1,884)
Amortisation for the year (66) — (2) (2) (71)
Disposals 48 — — — 48
Currency translation differences 4 — — — 4

At March 31 ¥(514) ¥(1,341) ¥(28) ¥ (19) ¥(1,903)

Net book value ¥ 167 ¥    15 ¥  6 ¥ 38 ¥   228

 
Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2021

Computer 
software Goodwill Patents Others Total Total

Cost:
At April 1 ¥ 681 ¥ 1,356 ¥ 35 ¥ 57 ¥ 2,131 $ 19,248
Additions 17 — — — 17 153
Disposals (187) — — (0) (187) (1,689)
Decrease resulting from exclusion of subsidiary from consolidation (9) — — — (9) (81)
Currency translation differences 4 — — — 4 36

At March 31 ¥ 508 ¥ 1,356 ¥ 35 ¥ 57 ¥ 1,957 $ 17,676

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses:
At April 1 ¥(514) ¥(1,341) ¥(28) ¥(19) ¥(1,903) $(17,189)
Amortisation for the year (59) — (2) (2) (64) (578)
Disposals 186 — — — 186 1,680
Decrease resulting from exclusion of subsidiary from consolidation 5 — — — 5 45
Currency translation differences (4) — — — (4) (36)

At March 31 ¥(386) ¥(1,341) ¥(31) ¥(21) ¥(1,780) $(16,078)

Net book value ¥ 121 ¥    15 ¥  3 ¥ 35 ¥   176 $  1,589

Note:  Amortisation is included in cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses 
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11. Investments accounted for using equity method
The book value of individually insignificant investments in associates is 
as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

March 31 
2021

March 31 
2020

March 31 
2021

Investment accounted for using 
equity method ¥2,844 — $25,688

Financial information on individually insignificant associates is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

March 31 
2021

March 31 
2020

March 31 
2021

Share of the associates’ net 
income held by the Group ¥(46) — $415

Share of the associates’ other 
comprehensive income held by 
the Group — — —

Share of the associates’ 
comprehensive income held by 
the Group ¥(46) — $415

12. Other financial assets

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Securities and mutual funds ¥  738 ¥603 $6,666   
Golf and resort club memberships 106 101 957
Security deposit 179 98 1,616

Total ¥1,024 ¥803 $9,249

13. Other Non-current Assets

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Long-term prepaid expenses ¥ 14 ¥ 26 $  126
Insurance premium reserve 214 205 1,932
Defined benefit assets 315 2,845
Others 8 7 72

Total ¥553 ¥240 $4,995

14. Trade and Other Payables

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Trade accounts payable ¥3,852 ¥3,470 $34,793
Accrued expenses 2,552 3,286 23,051
Other payables 929 764 8,391

Total ¥7,334 ¥7,520 $66,245   

15. Other Current Liabilities

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Accrued vacation pay ¥  441 ¥  443 $ 3,983
Advance received 1,337 1,269 12,076
Others 91 87 821

Total ¥1,870 ¥1,800 $16,890

16. Loans and Borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the 
Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
 Loans and borrowings at March 31, 2021 and 2020 comprised the 
following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Short-term loans and 
borrowings:
Unsecured bank loans * ¥    — ¥16,861 $     —
Self-settled trust loan  1,188 —  10,730

Long-term loans and 
borrowings maturing 
within one year:
Unsecured bank loans * 913 7,698 8,246

Lease liabilities 466 479 4,209

Total ¥ 2,567 ¥25,039 $ 23,186

Long-term loans and 
borrowings:
Unsecured bank loans * ¥31,630 ¥ 7,987 $285,701

Lease liabilities 1,525 1,297 13,774

Total ¥33,155 ¥ 9,285 $299,476

Note:  In June 2020, the Group reached agreements with all financial institutions it has trans-
actions with regarding the change in the terms and conditions of existing contracts in 
which the Group is granted ¥32,543 million unsecured loans from the financial institu-
tions. Accordingly, the Group posted the current portion of long-term borrowings of 
¥913 million and long-term borrowings of ¥31,630 million in the fiscal year under 
review.

 The maturities of long-term loans and borrowings at March 31, 
2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

The second year ¥ 2,245 ¥4,856 $ 20,278 
The third year 29,876 2,576 269,858 
The fourth year 212 1,090 1,914 
The fifth year 158 80 1,427 
Thereafter 662 681 5,979 

Total ¥33,155 ¥9,285 $299,476 

 The following table indicates the effective interest rates and maturi-
ty dates of interest-bearing financial liabilities at the consolidated 
statement of financial position date.

Effective 
interest rate 
(weighted 
average)

Millions of yen

Carrying amount

As of March 31, 2021
Within  

one year
More than 
one year Total

Short-term loans and 
borrowings:
Self-settled trust loan * ¥1,188 ¥    — ¥ 1,188

Long-term loans and 
borrowings:
Unsecured bank loans 
with fixed rates ** 0.57% 281 9,727 10,008

Unsecured bank loans 
with floating rates 1.35 631 21,902 22,534

Lease liabilities 1.09 466 1,525 1,991

*  The effective interest rate (weighted average) with self-settled trust loan isn’t disclosed, 
because trading receivables by liquidation of self-settled trusts are treated as borrowings.

**  Long-term loans and borrowings in interest rate swap that is substantially fixed rates are 
included in unsecured bank loans with fixed rates.
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Effective 
interest rate 
(weighted 
average)

Millions of yen

Carrying amount

As of March 31, 2020
Within  

one year
More than 
one year Total

Short-term loans and 
borrowings:
Unsecured bank loans 
with fixed rates 1.66% ¥16,861 ¥   — ¥16,861

Long-term loans and 
borrowings:
Unsecured bank loans 
with fixed rates* 0.57 4,765 5,622 10,388

Unsecured bank loans 
with floating rates 0.43 2,932 2,365 5,298

Lease liabilities 0.52 479 1,297 1,777

Effective 
interest rate 
(weighted 
average)

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Carrying amount

As of March 31, 2021
Within  

one year
More than 
one year Total

Short-term loans and 
borrowings:
Self-settled trust loan * $10,730 $     — $ 10,730

Long-term loans and 
borrowings:
Unsecured bank loans 
with fixed rates ** 0.57% 2,538 87,860 90,398

Unsecured bank loans 
with floating rates 1.35 5,699 197,832 203,540

Lease liabilities 1.09 4,209 13,774 17,983

*  The effective interest rate (weighted average) with self-settled trust loan is not disclosed 
because trading receivables by declaration of self-settled trust are treated as borrowings.

**  Long-term loans and borrowings in interest rate swap that is substantially fixed rates are 
included in unsecured bank loans with fixed rates.

 The Group’s exposure to foreign currency and liquidity risks are 
described in Note 30.

17. Employee Benefits
Defined benefit plans
The Company and certain subsidiaries provide defined benefit plans 
for their employees. Benefits are dependent on the levels of wages 
and salaries at the times of retirement or termination, lengths of ser-
vice and certain other factors. The defined benefit obligations are rec-
ognised on the basis of actuarial assumptions of discount rate and 
others. As a result, they are exposed to risk by the movement of these 
assumptions.
 The following table reconciles the funded status of the defined 
benefit plans to the amounts recognised in the consolidated state-
ments of financial position:
 Movement in present value of the defined benefit obligations:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Present value of funded obligations¥ 6,197 ¥ 7,375 $ 55,975
Fair value of plan assets (6,120) (6,743) (55,279)

Subtotal 76 631 686
Present value of unfunded 
obligations 2,019 2,030 18,236

Net defined benefit liability or 
asset 2,096 2,661 18,932

Defined benefit assets* 315 — 2,845

Defined benefit liability recognised 
in the consolidated statements of 
financial position** ¥ 2,411 ¥ 2,661 $ 21,777

*  Defined benefit assets are the sum of overfunded amounts (i.e. excess planned assets over 
defined benefit liability) of two consolidated subsidiaries.

**  Defined benefit liabilities are presented as “employee benefits” in the consolidated state-
ments of financial position.

 Movement in present value of the defined benefit obligations:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Defined benefit obligations at April 1 ¥ 9,405 ¥9,976 $ 84,951
Benefits paid by the plan (1,474) (428) (13,314)
Benefits paid by the Group (134) (379) (1,210)
Current service costs** 469 536 4,236
Interest cost** 36 29 325
Actuarial (gains)/losses*** (81) (328) (731)
Decrease resulting from exclusion 
of  subsidiary from 
consolidation**** (5) — (45)

Defined benefit obligations at 
March 31 ¥ 8,216 ¥9,405 $ 74,211

*  The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 10 years as of 
March 31, 2021, and nine years as of March 31, 2020.

**  Current service costs and interest cost (net interest after deducting interest income on 
plan assets) are included in cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, 
and research and development expenses.

***  Actuarial (gains)/losses arose from changes in financial assumptions and others.
****  Decrease resulting from exclusion of subsidiaries from consolidation is attributable to 

NDK SAW devices Inc., a former consolidated subsidiary, becoming an equity-method 
affiliate by share transfer.

 Movement in fair value of plan assets:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Fair value of plan assets at April 1 ¥ 6,743 ¥6,778 $ 60,906
Contributions paid to the plan* 445 526 4,019
Benefits paid by the plan (1,474) (428) (13,314)
Interest income 26 19 234
Return on plan assets, excluding 
interest income 378 (151) 3,414

Fair value of plan assets at 
March 31 ¥ 6,120 ¥6,743 $ 55,279

*  The Company and certain subsidiaries expect to pay ¥434 million ($3,920 thousand) in 
contributions to defined benefit plans for the year ending March 31, 2022.

 The target of the management of plan assets is to secure needed 
total earnings in the long term to sustain the payment of pension and 
lump-sum benefits in the future, paying attention to medium-term 
risk of downward market trends. 
 The Group designs an optimal portfolio to achieve this target, 
attempts to maintain asset allocations based on this portfolio, and 
reviews the necessity of rebalancing the portfolio as needed.

 Plan assets consist of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Pension investment fund trust* ¥4,644 ¥4,937 $41,947
Life insurance company general 
accounts** 1,236 1,564 11,164

Others 239 241 2,158
Total plan assets ¥6,120 ¥6,743 $55,279

*  The components of the pension investment fund trust were domestic bonds 65%, domes-
tic equities 12%, foreign-currency equities 13% and foreign-currency bonds & others 
10% as of March 31, 2021 and domestic bonds 66%, domestic equities 10%, for-
eign-currency equities 10% and foreign-currency bonds & others 14% as of March 31, 
2020. There are no quoted market prices in an active market for the pension investment 
fund trust, but the investments in the pension investment fund trust include stocks and 
bonds listed in active markets.

**  Life insurance company general accounts are group pension general accounts which are 
guaranteed certain assumed interest rates and return of principal. There are no quoted 
market prices in an active market.
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 Principal actuarial assumptions used to determine pension obliga-
tions as of March 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

2021 2020

Discount rate 0.3% 0.4%

Note:  Other actuarial assumptions include mortality rate, turnover rate, future salary growth 
rate, and others.

 Changes in the discount rate would have affected the defined ben-
efit obligation by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes 
that all variables other than the discount rate remain constant.

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Discount rate - 0.1% increase ¥(74) ¥(87) $(668)

Discount rate - 0.1% decrease ¥ 75 ¥ 88 $ 677

Defined contribution plans
In addition to the preceding plans, the Company and a majority of its 
subsidiaries, overseas and domestic, sponsor defined contribution 
plans based on local practices and regulations. The Group’s contribu-
tions were as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Contributions paid to the plans ¥861 ¥1,057 $7,777

Note:  Contributions are included in cost of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses, 
and research and development expenses.

Multi-employer plan
The Company participates in the welfare pension fund for the Tokyo 
Electrical Industry Corporate Pension Fund Organization, a multi-em-
ployer defined benefit plan.
 For the multi-employer defined benefit plan, sufficient information 
is not available to use defined benefit accounting since it is not possi-
ble to calculate the amount of plan assets corresponding to the 
Company’s contributions. Therefore, the Company accounts for the 
plan as if it were a defined contribution plan, and the contributions 
are included in cost of sales, selling, general and administrative 
expenses, and research and development expenses.

 The contributions paid to the plan are as follows: 

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Contributions paid to the plan ¥112 ¥137 $1,011

Notes: 1.  Contributions are calculated by multiplying the standard salary of each member by 
a defined contribution rate. In case the plan is underfunded, future contributions to 
the plan may increase.

 2.  Assets contributed to the plan may be used to provide benefits to employees of 
other participating employers. If the other participating employer stops contributing 
to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the remaining 
participating employers.

 3.  The Company expects to pay ¥120 million ($1,083 thousand) in contributions to 
the plan for the year ending March 31, 2022.

 The latest available information for the multi-employer plan as a whole which is not in accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of U.S. 

dollars

As of March 31, 2021 As of March 31, 2020
As of March 31, 

2021

Fair value of plan assets ¥119,769 ¥127,216 $1,081,826
Actuarial benefit obligation in the plan 136,406 141,568 1,232,101

Net ¥ (16,637) ¥ (14,351) $  (150,275)

Surplus ¥  (4,405) ¥   (828) $   (39,788)
General reserve 2,524 3,363 22,798
Unamortised past service obligation (14,756) (16,886) (133,285)

Total ¥ (16,637) ¥ (14,351) $  (150,275)

Amortisation method of past service obligation The amounts of principal 
and interest are amortised 
equally for 20 years

The amounts of principal 
and interest are amortised 
equally for 20 years

Ratio of contributions by the Company to the plan as a whole 2.79% 2.88%

Note: In case of withdrawing from the plan, the Company may be required to pay the amount of unfunded obligations proportional to the Company’s ratio of contributions to the plan as a whole.

Termination benefits
The Company and certain subsidiaries paid additional compensation to employees for early retirement recorded as an expense in cost of sales or 
other operating expenses.

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Expense recognised in consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income ¥164 ¥2,327 $1,481
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18. Share Capital

Number of shares

2021 2020

Class of shares *, ** Ordinary shares Class A shares Ordinary shares
Number of authorised shares 50,000,000 5,000 40,000,000
Number of issued shares ***

At April 1 20,757,905 — 20,757,905
Increase or decrease — 5,000 —
At March 31 20,757,905 5,000 20,757,905

Number of treasury shares
At April 1 1,133,568 — 1,133,154
Number of purchased or sold shares less than a full trading unit 187 — 414
At March 31 1,133,755 — 1,133,568

*  Ordinary shares have no par value.
**  There are no provisions regarding preference dividends for Class A Shares; the right to request acquisition in exchange for common shares is attached to Class A Shares.

***  Issued shares are fully paid.

Treasury shares
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount 
of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs, 
net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. 
 Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are pre-
sented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury shares are 
sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as 
an increase in equity. The resulting surplus or deficit on the transac-
tion is transferred to/from retained earnings.

Other components of equity
Financial assets measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income are the amounts of the cumulative net change in the fair 
value of financial assets measured at fair value through other compre-
hensive income until the assets are derecognised.

Translation differences for foreign operations
This reserve is used for translation differences arising on the consoli-
dation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Cash flow hedge
This reserve is the effective portion of the cumulative net change in 
the fair value of hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges.

19. Dividends
Payments of dividends in the year ended March 31, 2020:
On June 21, 2019, no dividend was proposed to shareholders at the 
annual general meeting.

Payments of dividends in the year ended March 31, 2021:
On July 31, 2020, no dividend was proposed to shareholders at the 
annual general meeting. 
On June 25, 2021, no dividend will be proposed to shareholders at 
the annual general meeting. 

20. Sales
Disaggregation of Revenue
The main activities of the Group are the integrated manufacture and 
sale of quartz crystal units, crystal devices, ultrasonic transducers, and 
synthetic quartz crystals. The revenue from these businesses is record-
ed as sales in accordance with the contracts with the customers.
 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is pre-
sented in “Information about products and services” of Note 4, 
”Segment Information.” 

Liabilities from contracts with customers
Liabilities from contracts with customers are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

March 31 
2021

March 31 
2020

March 31 
2021

Contract Liabilities ¥209 ¥238 $1,887

Notes: 1.  Contract liabilities are mainly advance payments received from customers as pay-
ment for products.

 2.  The amounts of revenue recognised for the year ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 
that were included in the advances received balance at the beginning of the period 
are ¥81 million ($731 thousand) and ¥113 million, respectively.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obli-
gations
The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the remaining 
performance obligation from contracts with some customers and the 
expected duration for recognition of that amount as revenue are as 
follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

March 31 
2021

March 31 
2020

March 31 
2021

Within one year ¥209 ¥ 66 $1,887

Over one year — 171 —

Total ¥209 ¥238 $1,887

The Group applies the practical expedient of omitting the disclosure 
of information on the remaining performance obligations whose orig-
inal expected duration is less than one year, since there is no transac-
tion with an individual contractual period exceeding one year except 
as above. In addition, there are no significant amounts in consider-
ation from contracts with customers that are not included in transac-
tion prices.
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21. Cost of Sales

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Raw materials ¥13,751 ¥14,717 $124,207 
Subcontract fees 326 403 2,944
(Increase) in products and 
work-in-process 2,549 1,508 23,024

Personnel expenses (refer to 
Note 25) 8,643 9,808 78,068

Depreciation and amortisation 
(refer to Note 26) 2,315 2,877 20,910

Electricity 1,850 2,177 16,710
Impairment losses of PPE — 1,970 —
Others 3,179 2,233 28,714

Total ¥32,616 ¥35,696 $294,607

22. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Personnel expenses (refer to 
Note 25) ¥2,781 ¥3,181 $25,119

Depreciation and amortisation 
(refer to Note 26) 451 460 4,073

Commissions 428 347 3,865
Shipping charges 697 589 6,295
Travel 73 239 659
Welfare 121 159 1,092
Tax and dues 216 189 1,951
Repair expenses 99 122 894
Others 625 633 5,645

Total ¥5,495 ¥5,922 $49,634

23. Research and Development Expenses

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Personnel expenses (refer to Note 
25) ¥  977 ¥1,016 $ 8,824

Depreciation and amortisation 
(refer to Note 26) 204 210 1,842

Materials 295 320 2,664
Others 136 136 1,228

Total ¥1,613 ¥1,684 $14,569

24. Other Operating Income and Expenses

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Rental income* ¥   26 ¥   73 $   234
Government grant income** 121 174 1,092
Insurance claim income*** — 49 —
Gain on sales of shares of a 
subsidiary 2,665 — 24,071

Gain from remeasurement relating 
to application of the equity 
method 1,740 — 15,716

Other income 218 125 1,969

Total other operating income ¥4,772 ¥  423 $43,103

Loss on disposal of PPE ¥    2 ¥90 $    18
Impairment losses of PPE 328 1,962 2,962
Depreciation of temporarily idle 
fixed assets 83 82 749

Structural reform expenses**** 790 2,500 7,135
Loss due to accident***** — 42 —
Other expenses 194 197 1,752

Total other operating expenses ¥1,398 ¥4,875 $12,627

*  Rental income occurred mainly due to renting a part of a factory at subsidiaries for 
the year ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.

**  Grants mainly include accounts received from national and local public entities for 
employment and investments in facilities and benefits received through low-interest 
loans using the lending system of the Bank of Japan, which are recognised in the peri-
ods when the related expenses are recognised.

***  Insurance claim income for the damaged inventory affected by typhoon No.19 in 
October 2019.

****  Structural reform expenses mainly include the expenses for employees at Suzhou NDK 
Co., Ltd. due to their factory relocation and special retirement benefits for those who 
voluntarily retired from the Company.

*****  Loss on disposal of inventory affected by typhoon No.19 in October 2019.

25. Personnel Expenses

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Wages and salaries ¥10,215 ¥11,249 $ 92,268
Pension expenses 1,452 1,741 13,115
Termination benefits 164 2,327 1,481
Fringe benefits (excluding expenses 
related to defined benefit plans) 
and others 725 1,015 6,548

Total ¥12,558 ¥16,333 $113,431
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26. Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Property, plant and equipment:
Cost of sales ¥2,307 ¥2,865 $20,838
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 404 409 3,649

Research and development 
expenses 195 200 1,761

Other operating expenses 133 150 1,201

Subtotal—depreciation expenses ¥3,040 ¥3,626 $27,459

Intangible assets and goodwill:
Cost of sales ¥    8 ¥   11 $    72
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses 46 50 415

Research and development 
expenses 8 9 72

Subtotal—amortisation expenses ¥   64 ¥   71 $   578

Total depreciation and 
amortisation expenses ¥3,104 ¥3,697 $28,037

27. Financial Income and Expenses

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Interest income:
Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost ¥ 70 ¥ 45 $  632 

Dividend income:  
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income 15 14 135 

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 1 22 9 

Gain on sales of other financial assets  
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss — 94 —

Gain arising from changes in the fair 
value of derivative financial instruments: 45 — 406 
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 10 27 90 

Foreign exchange gains, net 186 — 1,680 
Others 16 5 144 

Total financial income ¥346 ¥210 $3,125 
Interest expense:  

Unwind of discount ¥  0 ¥  0    $    0 
Financial liability measured at 
amortised cost 501 303 4,525 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 20 8 180 
Loss on impairment of other financial 
assets 0 
Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss — 45 —

Loss arising from changes in the fair 
value of derivative financial instruments: 0 

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 7 — 63 

Foreign exchange losses, net — 208 —
Others 22 2 198 

Total financial expenses ¥552 ¥568 $4,985 

28. Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued bonus ¥   3 ¥  11 $    27 
Loss from devaluation of 
inventories 11 18 99 

Elimination of unrealised gains 
on inventories 40 41 361 

Depreciation and amortisation 10 11 90 
Tax losses carried forward 404 409 3,649 
Others 68 81 614 

Subtotal ¥ 539 ¥ 575 $ 4,868 

Offset by deferred tax liabilities 
within each entity ¥ (40) ¥ (45) (361)

Deferred tax assets ¥ 498 ¥ 529 $ 4,498 
0 

Deferred tax liabilities: 0 
Depreciation and amortisation ¥ (66) ¥(101) (596)
Unrealised gains on other 
financial assets (58) (46) (523)

Defined benefit assets (108) — (975)
Others (298) (246) (2,691)

Subtotal ¥(532) ¥(393) (4,805)

Offset by deferred tax assets 
within each entity ¥  40 ¥  45 $   361 

Deferred tax liabilities ¥(492) ¥(348)  $(4,444)

Net deferred tax assets ¥   6 ¥ 181 $    54 

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the fol-
lowing items:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Deductible temporary 
differences ¥20,116 ¥19,958 $181,699 

Tax losses 18,589 18,141 167,907 

Total ¥38,706 ¥38,100 $349,616 

 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these 
items because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be avail-
able against which the Group can utilise the benefits therefrom. The 
deductible temporary differences and part of tax losses do not expire 
under current tax legislation. The tax losses carried forward for the 
Company and certain subsidiaries have the following schedule of 
expiration:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

The first year ¥ 1,355 ¥ 1,242 $ 12,239 
The second year 2,010 538 18,155 
The third year 1,237 1,824 11,173 
The fourth year 1,563 2,257 14,117 
The fifth year and after 12,424 14,626 112,221 

 Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised for temporary dif-
ferences associated with investments in foreign subsidiaries of ¥71 
million ($641 thousand) and ¥79 million at March 31, 2021 and 
2020, respectively, as the Company has determined that the profits 
concerned will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.
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 Movement in net deferred tax assets during the year is as follows:

Millions of yen

Balance 
March 31, 

2019

Recognised 
in profit  
or loss

Recognised 
directly  

in equity

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Balance 
March 31, 

2020

Recognised 
in profit  
or loss

Recognised 
directly  

in equity

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Balance 
March 31, 

2021

Accrued bonus ¥  17 ¥  (6) ¥— ¥  — ¥  11 ¥(8) ¥— ¥  — ¥   3
Loss from devaluation of inventories 24 (5) — — 18 (7) — — 11
Change in fair value of other financial assets (44) 3 — (5) (46) (4) — (7) (58)
Impairment losses of PPE and intangible assets 139 (139) — — — — — — —
Elimination of unrealised gains on inventories 51 (9) — — 41 (0) — — 40
Depreciation and amortisation (122) 31 — — (90) 33 — — (56)
Tax losses carried forward 651 (241) — — 409 (4) — — 404
Gain on sales of land use right and PPE (405) 405 — — — — — — —
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan — — — — — — (108) (108)
Others (25) (20) — (117) (163) — — (66) (229)

Total ¥ 286 ¥  18 ¥— ¥(123) ¥ 181 ¥ 7 ¥— ¥(182) ¥   6

Note:  The difference between total of “Recognised in profit or loss” and “Deferred tax expenses/(benefits)” is due to exchange rate fluctuations.

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Balance 
March 31, 

2020

Recognised 
in profit  
or loss

Recognised 
directly  

in equity

Recognised  
in other  

comprehensive 
income

Balance 
March 31, 

2021

Accrued bonus $    99 $ (72) $— $    — $   27 
Loss from devaluation of inventories 162 (63) — — 99 
Change in fair value of other financial assets (415) (36) — (63) (523)
Impairment losses of PPE and intangible assets — — — — —
Elimination of unrealised gains on inventories 370 0 — — 361 
Depreciation and amortisation (812) 298 — — (505)
Tax losses carried forward 3,694 (36) — — 3,649 
Gain on sales of land use right and PPE — — — — —
Remeasurement of defined benefit plan — — — (975) (975) 
Others (1,472) — $— (596) (2,068)

Total $ 1,634 $ 63 $— $(1,643) $   54

 Income taxes are composed of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Current tax expenses:
Current year ¥ 583 ¥   93 $ 5,266 

Deferred tax expenses/
(benefits):
Origination and reversal of 
temporary differences 691 (2,843) 6,241 

Benefit of tax losses recognised 21 222 189 
Effect of unrecognised tax losses 
or temporary differences (680) 2,592 (6,142)

Total 32 (29) 289 

Total income tax expenses ¥ 615 ¥   64 $ 5,555 

Note:  Current tax expenses include the previously unrecognised tax losses, and it decreased 
the current tax expenses by ¥694 million ($6,268 thousand) and ¥0 million at March 
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

 Reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting 
profit or loss multiplied by the applicable tax rate is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Loss before income taxes ¥2,592 ¥(8,644) $23,412 
Taxes at the Company’s domestic tax 
rate* 811 (2,705) 7,325 

Expenses not deductible for tax 
purposes 78 66 704 

Non-taxable income (0) (1) 0 
Impact of different tax rates in other 
countries (119) 148 (1,074)

Effect of unrecognised tax losses or 
temporary differences (680) 2,592 (6,142)

Effect of restructuring 415 — 3,748 
Others 111 (35) 1,002

Total income tax expenses ¥  615 ¥   64 $ 5,555 

*  The Company is subject to a number of income taxes that, in the aggregate, result in an 
applicable tax rate in Japan of approximately 31.3% and 31.3% for the years ended March 
31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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29. Earnings per Share

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Net income/loss attributable to 
ordinary shareholders ¥1,976 ¥(8,709) $17,848

Net income used for calculation 
of diluted earnings per share ¥1,976 ¥    — $17,848

Number of shares

2021 2020

Weighted-average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding 19,624,283 19,624,598

Effect of dilutive securities (Class A 
shares): Increase in number of ordinary 
shares 12,626,891 —

Weighted-average number of diluted 
ordinary shares outstanding 32,251,174 —

Yen U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Basic earnings/loss per share ¥100.70 ¥(443.79) $0.91

Diluted earnings/loss per share ¥ 61.27 ¥    — $0.55

Notes: 1.  Basic earnings/loss per share is calculated by dividing the net income/loss for the 
period attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

 2.  Diluted earnings/loss per share for the year ended March 2020 is not presented 
because there were no potential ordinary shares which had dilutive effects in the 
year ended March 2020.

30. Financial Instruments
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk arises in 
the normal course of the Group’s business.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss which the Group faces if a cus-
tomer or the counterparty of a financial instrument cannot fulfil their 
contractual obligation.
 Management has a credit policy of risk management in place and 
the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit 
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a 
certain amount based on reports by credit research companies. The 
Group does not require collateral in respect of financial assets at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date.
 Financial transactions of cash and cash equivalents and derivative 
financial instruments are with creditworthy financial institutions, so 
management estimates that the credit risk of these accounts is insig-
nificant. A loss allowance is measured at the same amount of expect-
ed credit loss incurred within twelve months for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost without trade receivables. However, 
depending on future economic conditions, past performance and so 
on, a loss allowance can be anticipated, treated as of no importance, 
and not appropriated.
 At the consolidated statement of financial position date, there were 
no significant concentrations of credit risk. 
 The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 
amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instru-
ments, in the consolidated statements of financial position. The maxi-
mum exposure to credit risk at the consolidated statement of financial 
position date was:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Trade receivables ¥10,924 ¥9,906 $98,672

 The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the 
reporting date by geographic region was:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Domestic ¥ 3,343 ¥3,165 $30,196
Asia 4,864 4,139 43,934
Europe 1,634 1,646 14,759
North America 1,081 955 9,764

Total ¥10,924 ¥9,906 $98,672

 The Group recognises a loss allowance to financial assets measured 
at amortised cost including trade receivables through measurement of 
expected credit loss in view of collectability, significant increase of 
credit risk and so on. On the other hand, no trade receivables of the 
Group include significant financial components. So, a loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit loss 
without giving consideration to significant increase of credit risk. All 
trade receivables are regarded as one group, because they are receiv-
ables from corporate customers and their characteristics of credit risk 
are almost the same. A loss allowance of trade receivables is estimat-
ed by the provision ratio which takes the historical credit loss experi-
ence and future conditions into account. 
 The group regards trade receivables as the default under the fol-
lowing conditions:
•  Significant financial difficulty of the counterparty
•  It is probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganisation
 If trade receivables become the default, they are regarded as cred-
it-impaired financial assets and measured individually based on a con-
sideration of past performance of credit loss, future collectable 
amount and so on for each individual receivable.
 The amount of the allowance for trade receivables is recognised 
unless the Group is convinced that it is impossible to recover the 
amount of trade receivables. In case the Group estimates that it can-
not expect to recover the financial assets, the gross carrying amount 
of the financial assets is written off directly. Credit-impaired financial 
assets at March 31, 2021 and 2020 are ¥18 million ($162 thousand) 
and ¥25 million, respectively.
 The movement in the allowance for doubtful receivables during the 
year was as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

At April 1 ¥38 ¥39 $343
Increases 0 5 0
Decreases (reversed) — (3) —
Decreases (written off) (7) (0) (63)
Currency translation differences (0) (2) (0)

At March 31 ¥31 ¥38 $280

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk 
by holding appropriate reserves, ensuring that it has access to credit 
facilities at financial institutions, and continuously monitoring fore-
casts and actual cash flows.
 The maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities is also recon-
ciled on a regular basis. 
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 The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements.

Millions of yen

March 31, 2021
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Within  
one year

The second 
year The third year

The fourth 
year

The fifth 
year Thereafter

Non-derivative financial liabilities:
Short-term loans and borrowings ¥ 1,188 ¥ (1,200) ¥ (1,200) ¥    — ¥     — ¥  — ¥  — ¥  —
Long-term loans and borrowings with fixed rates* 10,008 (10,143) (337) (660) (9,146) — — —
Long-term loans and borrowings with floating rates 22,534 (23,261) (932) (1,671) (20,657) — — —
Lease liabilities 1,991 (2,060) (485) (272) (247) (222) (166) (665)
Trade and other payables 7,558 (7,558) (7,334) — — — — (223)

Derivative financial liabilities:
Forward exchange contracts 307 (307) (307) — — — — —
Interest rate swap 15 (15) (15) — — — — —

Total ¥43,604 ¥(44,547) ¥(10,613) ¥(2,605) ¥(30,050) ¥(222) ¥(166) ¥(889)

Millions of yen

March 31, 2020
Carrying 
amount

Contractual cash 
flows

Within  
one year

The second 
year The third year

The fourth 
year The fifth year Thereafter

Non-derivative financial liabilities:
Short-term loans and borrowings ¥16,861 ¥(17,141) ¥(17,141) ¥   — ¥   — ¥   — ¥ — ¥  —
Long-term loans and borrowings with fixed 
rates* 10,388 (10,469) (4,811) (3,031) (1,737) (888) — —

Long-term loans and borrowings with 
floating rates 5,298 (5,323) (2,949) (1,550) (724) (100) — —

Lease liabilities 1,777 (1,805) (487) (311) (130) (108) (83) (683)
Trade and other payables 7,746 (7,746) (7,520) — — — — (225)

Derivative financial liabilities:
Forward exchange contracts 7 (7) (7) — — — — —
Interest rate swap 25 (25) (25) — — — — —

Total ¥42,105 ¥(42,519) ¥(32,943) ¥(4,892) ¥(2,593) ¥(1,097) ¥(83) ¥(908)

Thousands of U.S. dollars

March 31, 2021
Carrying 
amount

Contractual cash 
flows

Within  
one year

The second 
year

The third  
year

The fourth  
year The fifth year Thereafter

Non-derivative financial liabilities:
Short-term loans and borrowings $ 10,730 $ (10,839) $(10,839) $     — $      — $    — $    — $    —
Long-term loans and borrowings with fixed 
rates* 90,398 (91,617) (3,043) (5,961) (82,612) — — —

Long-term loans and borrowings with 
floating rates 203,540 (210,107) (8,418) (15,093) (186,586) — — —

Lease liabilities 17,983 (18,607) (4,380) (2,456) (2,231) (2,005) (1,499) (6,006)
Trade and other payables 68,268 (68,268) (66,245) — — — — (2,014)

Derivative financial liabilities:
Forward exchange contracts 2,773 (2,773) (2,773) — — — — —
Interest rate swap 135 (135) (135) — — — — —

Total $393,857 $(402,375) $(95,863) $(23,529) $(271,429) $(2,005) $(1,499) $(8,029)

* Long-term loans and borrowings with fixed rates include long-term loans and borrowings whose rates are practically fixed by interest rate swap transactions.

 At March 31, 2021, the Group had ¥17,395 million ($157,122 
thousand) of total lines of credit, of which ¥11,991 million ($108,309 
thousand) was used and ¥1,404 million ($12,681 thousand) was 
unused and available for borrowing on an uncommitted basis.
At March 31, 2020, the Group had ¥19,395 million of total lines of 
credit, of which ¥13,991 million was used and ¥1,404 million was 
unused and available for borrowing on an uncommitted basis.

Interest rate risk
The Company controls and monitors debt financing of the Group and 
prohibits entering into a debt contract without obtaining approval 
from the head office for the terms and amount.
 The Company has a policy of considering economic conditions at 
the time of the contract and future economic conditions when select-
ing fixed or floating interest rates. Also, the Company consistently 
monitors the effectiveness of their selection. The Group uses interest 
rate swaps to hedge the risk of cash flow fluctuations.
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Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
A 0.1% fluctuation in interest rates at the reporting date would have 
increased/(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown 
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular for-
eign currency rates, remain constant.

Effect in millions of yen

0.1% increase 0.1% decrease

March 31, 2021 Equity Loss Equity Profit

Variable rate instruments* ¥(15) ¥(15) ¥15 ¥15

Effect in millions of yen

0.1% increase 0.1% decrease

March 31, 2020 Equity Loss Equity Profit

Variable rate instruments* ¥(15) ¥(15) ¥15 ¥15

Effect in thousands of U.S. dollars

0.1% increase 0.1% decrease

March 31, 2021 Equity Loss Equity Profit

Variable rate instruments* $(135) $(135) $135 $135

*  These instruments except long-term loans and borrowings whose rates are practically fixed 
by interest rate swap transactions.

Foreign currency risk
The Group experiences foreign currency risk mainly on sales that are 
denominated in a currency other than yen. The currency giving rise to 
this risk is primarily the U.S. dollar. The Group economically hedges at 
least 80% of all trade receivables denominated in a foreign currency. 
The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign cur-
rency risk. Most of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of 
less than four months. In respect of other monetary assets and liabili-
ties held in currencies other than yen, the Group ensures that the net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign 
currencies at spot rates where necessary to address short-term imbal-
ances. Foreign currency risks also arise on loan payables and are eco-
nomically hedged by currency swaps.
 Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts and cur-
rency swaps that economically hedge monetary assets and liabilities, 
firm commitments or forecasted transactions, in foreign currencies 
and for which no hedge accounting is applied are recognised in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Both the changes 
in fair value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchange gains 
and losses relating to the monetary items are recognised as part of 
“Financial Income and Expenses” (refer to Note 27).

Exposure to currency risk
The Group’s exposure to main foreign currency risk based on thousands of original amounts was as follows:

March 31, 2021 US$ GBP EUR RMB MYR SG$ HK$

Trade receivables 40,274 18 2,347 71,115 2,413 — 0
Trade payables (1,573) (328) (208) (77,461) (861) (1) —

Gross consolidated statement of financial position exposure 38,701 (310) 2,138 (6,345) 1,552 (1) 0

Estimated forecast sales 11,402 — 630 10,605 — — —
Estimated forecast purchases (2,673) — — — — — —

Gross exposure 8,729 — 630 10,605 — — —

Forward exchange contracts (51,496) — (2,845) (37,996) — — —

Net exposure (4,065) (310) (76) (33,736) 1,552 (1) 0

March 31, 2020 US$ GBP EUR RMB MYR SG$ HK$

Trade receivables 30,379 8 2,468 47,270 1,980 — 0
Trade payables (534) (317) (129) (45,221) (414) — —
Short-term loans and borrowings (4,000) — — — — — —

Gross consolidated statement of financial position exposure 25,844 (308) 2,339 2,049 1,565 — 0

Estimated forecast sales 11,154 — 703 8,102 — — —
Estimated forecast purchases (2,201) — — (33,000) — — —

Gross exposure 8,953 — 703 (24,898) — — —

Forward exchange contracts (55,334) — (4,382) 200,239 — — —

Net exposure (20,536) (308) (1,340) 177,390 1,565 — 0

Note: The significant exchange rates applied during the years are described in Note 3 (b) (ii).

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% appreciation of the yen against the U.S. dollar at March 31 
would have decreased equity and profit or loss by the amounts 
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particu-
lar interest rates, remain constant.

Effect in millions of yen

March 31, 2021 Equity Loss

US$ ¥(630) ¥(630)

Effect in millions of yen

March 31, 2020 Equity Loss

US$ ¥(445) ¥(445)

Effect in thousands of U.S. dollars

March 31, 2021 Equity Loss

US$ $(5,690) $(5,690)

 A 10% depreciation of the yen against the U.S. dollar at March 31 
would have had the equal but opposite effect to the amounts shown 
above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

Risk of equity instrument price fluctuations
The Group owns listed securities and mutual funds and is exposed to 
the risks of price fluctuations of equity instruments. The Group regu-
larly conducts financial evaluations of market prices and issuers and 
conducts ongoing reviews of the holdings of these shares.
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Sensitivity analysis for equity instrument price fluctuations
A 10% fluctuation of the market price of listed securities and mutual 
funds at March 31 would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit 
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all 
other variables remain constant.

Effect in millions of yen

10% increase 10% decrease

March 31, 2021 Equity Profit Equity Loss

Listed securities and mutual funds ¥41 ¥12 ¥(45) ¥(15)

Effect in millions of yen

10% increase 10% decrease

March 31, 2020 Equity Profit Equity Loss

Listed securities and mutual funds ¥35 ¥13 ¥(36) ¥(13)

Effect in thousands of U.S. dollars

10% increase 10% decrease

March 31, 2021 Equity Profit Equity Loss

Listed securities and mutual funds $370 $108 $(406) $(135)

Fair Value
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the consolidated statements of financial position, are 
as follows:

Millions of yen

March 31, 2021 Carrying amounts Fair value

Assets measured at fair value:
Other financial assets ¥   844 ¥   844

Assets measured at amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 16,707 16,707
Trade and other receivables 11,424 11,424
Other financial assets 179 179

Liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative liabilities 331 331

Liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables 7,558 7,558
Loans and borrowings 33,731 32,794

Millions of yen

March 31, 2020 Carrying amounts Fair value

Assets measured at fair value:
Other financial assets ¥   705 ¥   705
Derivative assets 49 49

Assets measured at amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 10,060 10,060
Trade and other receivables 10,184 10,184
Other financial assets 98 98

Liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative liabilities 33 33

Liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables 7,746 7,746
Loans and borrowings 32,548 32,556

Thousands of U.S. dollars

March 31, 2021 Carrying amounts Fair value

Assets measured at fair value:
Other financial assets $  7,623 $  7,623

Assets measured at amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 150,907 150,907
Trade and other receivables 103,188 103,188
Other financial assets 1,616 1,616

Liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative liabilities 2,989 2,989

Liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Trade and other payables 68,268 68,268
Loans and borrowings 304,678 296,215

Basis for determining fair value 
• Other financial assets measured at fair value
The fair values of other financial assets are mainly based on quoted 
market price.
• Derivative assets and liabilities
The fair values of derivative financial instruments were estimated 
based on quotes from the financial institutions.
• Assets measured at amortised cost and trade and other payables

The fair value of assets measured at amortised cost and trade and 
other payables approximate fair values because they are settled in the 
short term. Therefore, it is regarded as fair values.
• Loans and borrowings
The carrying amounts of short-term loans and borrowings approxi-
mate fair value because they are settled in the short term. The fair 
value of long-term loans and borrowings is estimated based on the 
discounted amounts of future cash flows using the Group’s current 
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borrowing rates for similar liabilities and classified as level 2.

Fair value hierarchy
For financial instruments that are measured at fair value, the 
Company classifies fair value measurements into a three-level fair 
value hierarchy by reference to the observability and significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurement.
• Level 1

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2
Not Level 1 and observable inputs for the assets or liabilities
• Level 3
Unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on 
observable market data
 The Group recognises transfers between the levels at the consoli-
dated statement of financial position date.

 The details of financial assets or liabilities continuously designated at fair value at the end of the reporting period were as follows:

Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

March 31, 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss:
Mutual funds ¥173 ¥  — ¥  — ¥173 $1,562 $   — $   — $1,562
Golf memberships 101 101 912 912

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income:
Securities 302 — 262 564 2,727 — 2,366 5,094
Golf memberships — 4 — 4 — 36 — 36

Total assets ¥476 ¥106 ¥262 ¥844 $4,299 $  957 $2,366 $7,623

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss:
Derivative liabilities ¥  — ¥331 ¥  — ¥331 $    — $2,989 $    — $2,989

Total liabilities ¥  —  ¥331 ¥  — ¥331 $    — $2,989 $    — $2,989

Note: There is no transfer for Level 1, Level 2 and Level3.

Millions of yen

March 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss:
Mutual funds ¥135 ¥ — ¥ — ¥135
Golf memberships — 97 — 97
Derivative assets — 49 — 49

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income:
Securities 225 — 242 468
Golf memberships — 4 — 4

Total assets ¥360 ¥151 ¥242 ¥754

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss:
Derivative liabilities ¥ — ¥ 33 ¥ — ¥ 33

Total liabilities ¥ — ¥ 33 ¥ — ¥ 33

Note: There is no transfer for Level 1, Level 2 and Level3.

Financial assets for which fair value measurement is based on level 1 
input are measured at unadjusted market prices in active markets 
where there are sufficient volume and frequency of transactions.
 Financial assets and liabilities for which fair value measurement is 
based on level 2 input are measured at market price of the assets and 
liabilities in inactive markets. Forward exchange contracts and foreign 
currency swap contracts are measured based on observable market 
data, such as foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates pro-
vided by financial institutions.
 Financial assets for which fair value measurement is based on level 
3 input comprise unlisted stock, and significant input which is not 
observable is amount of net investment per equity. Fair value is mea-
sured using an appropriate appraisal method based on the best infor-
mation available such as amount of net investment. The amount of 
net investment per equity for the financial assets was ¥379 million 
($3,423 thousand) and ¥349 million as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. An increase makes fair value increase, and a decrease 
makes fair value decrease.
 Fair value of financial assets for which fair value measurement is 
based on level 3 is measured using an appraisal method of the target 

assets and liabilities decided by responsible departments which follow 
measuring policies and procedures admitted by appropriate authori-
ties. The result is confirmed and approved by the general manager of 
the financial department. There is no significant variation for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.

Equity instrument measured at fair value through other com-
prehensive income
The Group holds securities of corporations based on business relation-
ship. These equity instruments are assigned as financial assets mea-
sured at fair value through other comprehensive income for the 
purpose of maintaining and strengthening relationships with them.
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The major issues and fair values

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Listed securities:
Resona Holdings, Inc. ¥126 ¥ 88 $1,138
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group 71 48 641
Nisshinbo Holdings Inc. 53 46 478
Others 50 41 451

Unlisted securities:
Daiei Real Estate & Development Co., Ltd. 225 205 2,032
Others 37 37 334

Total ¥564 ¥468 $5,094

Derecognised equity instrument measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income
There is no derecognised equity instrument measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 
2021 and 2020.

Dividend received
Breakdown of dividend received recognised by equity instrument mea-
sured at fair value through other comprehensive income is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Financial instrument in derecognition 
during the year ¥ — ¥— $  —

Financial instrument at March 31 15 14 135

Total ¥15 ¥14 $135

Offset of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities hold authority which has legal force to 
set-off recognised amounts. If they intended to carry out achievement 
of assets and settlement of liabilities at the same time or to settle by 
net, they are set-off on the consolidated financial statement of finan-
cial position and indicated net basis.
 The set-off amount on the consolidated financial statement of 
financial position is not significant for the year ended March 31, 2021 
and 2020.

Cash flow hedge
The Group used interest rate swaps to hedge the risk of cash flow 
fluctuation due to interest fluctuation for loans and borrowings, and 
this is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument of cash flow 
hedge. But hedge accounting is no longer applied because a hedging 
relationship does not provide for evaluation of hedge effectiveness.
 The cash flow hedge reserve recognising until discontinuation of 
hedge accounting recovers into profit or loss for maturity of the 
hedged item. 

Information about items designated as hedging instrument
The amount of items designated as hedging instrument is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Interest rate risk
Interest rate swap  

The change in fair value of hedging instrument used as basis to recognise hedge ineffectiveness ¥—  ¥10 $—
Line item in the consolidated financial statements of financial position where the hedging 
instrument is included —

Derivative  
liabilities —

Information about items designated as hedged item
The amount of items designated as hedged items is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Interest rate risk
Bank loans with floating rates  

The change in fair value of hedged item used as basis to recognise hedge ineffectiveness ¥ — ¥(10) $  —
Cash flow hedge reserve from hedging relationships for which hedge accounting is no longer 
applied (18) (25) (162)

Effect that hedge accounting has had on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
Effect that hedge accounting has had on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Interest rate risk
Interest rate swap  

The hedging profit or loss recognised in other comprehensive income during reporting period ¥— ¥10 $ —
The amount reclassified from cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss as reclassification 
adjustments 7 17 63

Line item in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income where the reclassification 
adjustments are included

Financial 
expenses

Financial 
expenses

Financial 
expenses
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Fluctuation of other components of equity

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

At April 1 ¥(25) ¥(53) $(225)
Change in fair value:  

Interest rate risk of bank loans with floating rates — 10 —
Amount reclassified to profit or loss 7 17 63

At March 31 ¥(18) ¥(25) $(162)

Capital management
The Group aims to maximise its corporate value by balancing the 
return on capital and a healthy financial position of the Group using 
equity and debt financing. The main indexes that the Group uses for 
capital management are ROE, which the Group defines as net income 
divided by total equity, and the Debt/Equity Ratio, which the Group 
defines as total liabilities divided by total equity.
 For the years ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, ROE amounted to 

20.91% and (86.8)%, and the Debt/Equity Ratio amounted to 
365.3% and 919.7%, respectively.
 From time to time, the Company purchases its own shares on the 
market; the timing of these purchases depends on market prices. 
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital manage-
ment during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries 
are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Reconciliation table for financial liabilities arising from financing activities
Changes in major liabilities related to financial activities are as follows:

Millions of yen

As of March 31, 2021 Opening balance
Cash flows from 

financing activities

Non-cash item

Ending Balance
Fluctuation in 

exchange rates

changes the 
content of the 

contract*

Fluctuation due to 
conclusion and 

changes of details 
of lease contracts Other

Short-term loans and borrowings ¥16,861 ¥1,059  ¥  — ¥(16,861) ¥  — ¥128 ¥ 1,188

Long-term loans and borrowings 15,694 — — 16,848 — — 32,543

Lease liabilities 1,777 (571) 109 — 676 — 1,991

Total ¥34,333 ¥  488 ¥109 ¥    (12) ¥676 ¥128 ¥35,722

*  The Group changed the contract details of existing short- and long-term loans and borrowings with all financial institutions in June 2020. Hence, the figures above include valuations by remea-
surements of loans and borrowings.

Millions of yen

As of March 31, 2020 Opening balance
Change in 

accounting policy
Cash flows from 

financing activities

Non-cash item

Ending Balance
Fluctuation in 

exchange rates

Fluctuation due to 
conclusion and 

changes of details 
of lease contracts

Short-term loans and borrowings ¥ 6,508 ¥   — ¥10,348 ¥  4 ¥   — ¥16,861

Long-term loans and borrowings 25,531 — (9,836) — — 15,694

Lease liabilities — 1,323 (532) (54) 1,041 1,777

Total ¥32,040 ¥1,323 ¥   (21) ¥(50) ¥1,041 ¥34,333

Thousands of U.S. dollars

As of March 31, 2021 Opening balance
Cash flows from 

financing activities

Non-cash item

Ending Balance
Fluctuation in 

exchange rates
changes in contract 

terms

Fluctuation due to 
conclusion and 

changes of details 
of lease contracts Other

Short-term loans and borrowings $152,298 $ 9,565  $  — $(152,298) $    — $1,156 $ 10,730

Long-term loans and borrowings 141,757 — — 152,181 — 293,948

Lease liabilities 16,050 (5,157) 984 — 6,106 17,983

Total $310,116 $ 4,407 $984 $    (108) $6,106 $1,156 $322,662

Transfer of financial assets
The Group liquidates part of trade receivables by means of self-settled 
trusts. These trade receivables have not been derecognized, for they 
do not satisfy the conditions for the derecognition of financial assets. 
 The financial assets transferred by the means not satisfying the con-
ditions for derecognition of financial assets are recorded as “trade 
receivables” of ¥1,200 million and the proceeds from the transfer of 
those assets are recorded as “loans and borrowings” of ¥1,188 mil-
lion in the fiscal year under review.
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31. Leases
The Group has entered into leases mainly for real estate, such as 
office space, company housing, and facility. Lease terms are negotiat-
ed on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms 
and conditions. Information on leases, with the Group as the lessee, is 
as follows.

Profit and loss related to leases

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Depreciation charge for right-of-
use assets:
Buildings and structures ¥499 ¥509 $4,507 
Machinery and vehicles 19 18 171 
Furniture and fixtures 17 15 153 

Total ¥536 543 $4,841 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 20 8 180 

Expense relating to short-term 
leases 51 55 460 

Expense relating to low-value-asset 
leases 2 1 18 

Income from sub-leasing right-of-
use assets ¥  4 ¥ 51 $   36 

Cash outflow for leases

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Total cash outflow for leases ¥(645) ¥(598) $(5,826)

Extension options and termination options
Many of the lease contracts for real estates and facilities have an 
extension option and a termination option, which may be exercised 
by the Group, as necessary.
 Most options are extension options that span one year or the same 
period as the underlying contract or options for early termination fol-
lowing advanced written notification from one party of one month to 
six months.

Additions to right-of-use assets
Additions to right-of-use assets are detailed in Note 9.

Carrying amount of right-of-use assets

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2019 2021

Carrying amount of Right-
of-Use Assets:
Buildings and structures ¥1,516 ¥1,297 ¥1,190 $13,693 
Machinery and vehicles 58 56 55 523 
Furniture and fixtures 22 34 37 198 

Total ¥1,596 ¥1,387 ¥1,284 $14,416 

Maturity Analysis of Lease Liabilities
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is detailed in Note 30. 

32. Related Party Transactions
Transactions with subsidiaries and associates 
The Group purchases products manufactured by its subsidiaries and associates in the ordinary course of business. It also renders services such as 
undertaking part of their sales and management operations. In addition, it uses part of buildings owned by said subsidiaries as the Group’s manu-
facturing bases.  
 The transactions with the subsidiaries and associates are as follows:

Millions of yen Millions of yen Thousands of U.S. dollars

Amount of 
transactions

Outstanding 
balances

Amount of 
transactions

Outstanding 
balances

Amount of 
transactions

Outstanding 
balances

2020
As of March 31, 

2020 2021
As of March 31, 

2021 2021
As of March 31, 

2021

Purchase of goods and products — — ¥523 ¥191 $4,724 $1,725 

Rendering of services — — 72 27 650 243 

Lease obligations and lease payment — — 45 512 406 4,624 

Capital contributions for capital increase — — 710 — 6,413 —

 The outstanding balances except lease obligations have been settled within two months from the end of the fiscal year under review, with no collat-
eralized balances outstanding. The Group does not recognise any expenses for doubtful debts for the receivables payable by the related parties.

Key Management Personnel (KMP) compensation
Key management personnel compensation is as follows. “Key man-
agement personnel” is defined by the Group as members of the 
board of directors of the Company.

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2020 2021

Short-term employee benefits ¥63 ¥91 $569 
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33. Provisions

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2021 2021

Asset retirement 
obligation

Settlement for 
products sold

Structural 
reforms Total Total

At April 1 ¥ 52 ¥219 ¥ 1,837 ¥ 2,109 $ 19,049 

Provision made during the year 200 5 — 205 1,851 
Provision used during the year — (13) (1,837) (1,850) (16,710)
Current period reversal amount — (2) — (2) (18)
Unwind of discount 0 0 — 0 0 
Exchange differences 5 10 — 15 135 

At March 31 ¥259 ¥219 ¥    — ¥   478 $ 4,317 

Asset retirement obligation
The Company made a provision for asset retirement obligation in 
respect of the Company’s obligation to the landlord to dismantle and 
remove leasehold improvements from a leased office at the end of 
the lease contract. Considering the long-term nature of the liability, 
the major uncertainties are the cost that will be incurred and the time 
the lease contract ends. The Company has estimated the cost using 
an estimate provided by a third party and the lease period, taking into 
consideration that of the Company’s former office and the useful life 
of the furniture and fixtures attached to the office. The provision has 
been calculated using discount rates of 0.25% to 0.8%.

Settlement for products sold
The Company made a provision for settlement for products sold 

regarding the damage incurred by customers attributed to the 
Company’s products. The provision has been determined based on 
management’s estimate of the likely settlement amount. The provi-
sion has been calculated using a discount rate of 0.3%.

Structural reforms
The Group made a provision for the expected amount of costs that 
will be incurred in the future in the process of business structural 
reforms.
 During the year ended March 31, 2020, there was an estimated 
amount of economic compensation to employees due to the factory 
relocation of Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd. The compensation was fully paid 
off during the fiscal year under review, with a balance of zero at the 
end of the year ended March 31, 2021. 

34. List of Significant Consolidated Subsidiaries 

Entity Place of incorporation Principal activities Ownership interest

Furukawa NDK Co., Ltd. Japan Manufacturing 100.0%
Hakodate NDK Co., Ltd. Japan Manufacturing 100.0%
Niigata NDK Co., Ltd. Japan Manufacturing 100.0%
NDK Holdings USA, Inc. U.S.A. Holding company 100.0%
NDK America, Inc. U.S.A. Sales 100.0%
NDK Crystal Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore Sales 100.0%
NDK Europe Ltd. United Kingdom Sales 100.0%
NDK Electronics (HK) Limited Hong Kong Sales 100.0%
Asian NDK Crystal Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Manufacturing 100.0%
NDK Quartz Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Manufacturing 100.0%
Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing 100.0%
(Newly Established) Suzhou NDK Co., Ltd. China Manufacturing 100.0%
Suzhou NDK Trading Co., Ltd. China Sales 100.0%
NDK-Electronics Shanghai Co., Ltd. China Sales 100.0%
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Merkmal Keio Sasazuka Bldg., 1-47-1, 
Sasazuka, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo 151-8569, Japan
Phone: 81-3-5453-6711
Facsimile: 81-3-5453-6733
URL: http://www.ndk.com/en/
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